

GOVERNANCE POLICIES AND TERMS OF REFERENCE

Revised December 2025

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Introduction

The San Francisco Health Service System ("SFHSS") is dedicated to providing outstanding health and other employee benefits, and the highest standards of customer service to its members, while adhering to the highest standards of customer service.

To carry out its mission and the responsibilities of the SFHSS, as set out in the City Charter ("Charter") and San Francisco Administrative Code ("Administrative Code"), the Health Service Board ("The Health Services Board") ("Board") is the governing and policy-making body of the SFHSS. The Board supports SFHSS' mission to maintain sustainable, quality health benefits, and to enhance the well-being of members and their families. has established clear roles and responsibilities for itself, and the other parties involved in the governance and management of the SFHSS.

The Board has established these terms of reference to confirm and governance policies build upon the Board's statutory duties described in the City Charter ("Charter") and San Francisco Administrative Code ("Administrative Code") and provide transparency, accountability, and efficiency in the governance and management of the SFHSS. In the event of a conflict between the City Charter or the Administrative Code and the terms of reference or governance policies adopted by the Board, the City Charter and Administrative Code will prevail.

The policies within this document are designed to provide the criterion for the administration and management of SFHSS plans and programs. These policies cover various aspects of governance, including benefit plan design, administration of health and welfare plans, investment administration, board operations, performance evaluation, and communication. By adhering to these policies, the Health Service Board aims to maintain transparency, accountability, and efficiency in its operations.

Commented [CH1]: "outstanding" feels awkward. What about "quality?" or even high quality?

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0"

Commented [CH2]: This section and first sentence are a bit confusing. The subject appears to be about SFHSS and then the board is introduced. I've made suggested changes and you can see what you think.

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0"

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Health Service Board Governance Manual Table of Contents

Terms of Reference #	Page #	Description	Originally Adopted	Date of Review & Amendment	Date of Review & Amendment
101	3	Health Service Board Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
102	40	President of Health Service Board Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
103	42	Vice President of Health Service Board Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
104	43	Executive Director Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
105	46	Budget and Finance Committee Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
106	48	Governance Committee Terms of Reference	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
Policy #	Page #	Description	Originally Adopted	Date of Review & Amendment	Date of Review & Amendment
201	20	Board Operations Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
202	27	Board Education Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
203	38	Board Performance Evaluation Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
204	40	Executive Director Performance Evaluation Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
205	42	Monitoring and Reporting Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
206	44	Board Communications Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
207	47	Service Provider and Vendor Selection Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
208	54	Strategic Planning Policy	2/22/2007	02/14/2019	2/10/2022
209	54	Investment Policy	1/5/2017	1/5/2020	2/10/2022
210	60	Contingency Reserve Policy and Methodology	3/8/2008	3/14/2013	12/12/2024
211	62	Self-Funded Plans' Rate Stabilization Policy	3/8/2008	1/8/2015	2/10/2022
212	66	IBNR Reserve Policy and Methodology	3/14/2013	3/14/2019	2/10/2022
213	68	Legal Settlement Policy	1/12/2023		
Reference Documents		Description			Updated
		San Francisco Administrative Charter & Admin Codes			2/10/2022
		SFHSS Membership Rules and Cafeteria Plan 2025			12/12/2024

Microsoft CoPilot Artificial Intelligence was used to draft and/or edit the contents of this document.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

101: HEALTH SERVICE BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) The San Francisco Health Service System ("SFHSS") is dedicated to providing outstanding health and other employee benefits to its members while adhering to the highest standards of customer service.
- 2) To carry out its mission and the responsibilities of the SFHSS, as set out in the City Charter ("Charter") and San Francisco Administrative Code ("Administrative Code"), the Health Service Board ("Board") has established clear roles and responsibilities for itself, and the other parties involved in the governance and management of the SFHSS.
- 3) The Board has established these terms of reference to confirm and build upon the Board's statutory duties. In the event of a conflict between the City Charter or the Administrative Code and the terms of reference or governance policies adopted by the Board, the City Charter and Administrative Code will prevail.

Duties and Responsibilities

General Duties

- 4) Consistent with Charter section 12.201, the Board and each committee of the Board shall confine its activities to policy matters and matters coming before it as an appeals Board.
- 5) The Board's duties fall into two broad categories:
 - a) Designing benefit plans and benefit changes and determining rates under Charter section A8.422, subject to final approval by the Board of Supervisors; and
 - b) Health and welfare plan and fund administration in connection with:
 - i) The Health SFHSS Trust Fund, under Charter section 12.203;
 - ii) Benefit plans adopted under Charter section A8.422; and
 - iii) Benefit plans are administered by the Board under Charter section 4.102.

Plan Adoption and Benefit Design

- 6) Under Charter section A8.422, the Board has an important role to play in designing health benefit plans and amendments thereto for adoption by the Board of Supervisors:
 - a) The Board shall have power, and it shall be its duty by a majority vote of the entire membership of the Board, to adopt a plan or plans for rendering medical care to SFHSS members, or for obtaining and carrying insurance against such costs or for such care. Such plan or plans as may be adopted shall not become effective until approved by ordinance of the Board of Supervisors, adopted by three-fourths of its members (Charter § A8.422); and

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Consistent with the plan year set by the Board, at a public meeting, the Board shall review and determine the adequacy of health care provided for SFHSS members and the adequacy of rates and benefits and the compensation paid for all services rendered, and it may make such plan revisions as it deems equitable, however, such revisions shall not become effective until approved by ordinance of the Board of Supervisors adopted by three-fourths of its members.

7) To facilitate carrying out the duties set out in paragraph 6 above, the Board shall approve:

- a) The annual benefit and rate-setting process; and
- b) The Rates and Benefits Review cycle will guide the goals/objectives for the Board so that they can carry out the health care adequacy review as set forth in section 6) b).

Board Governance

8) The Board is responsible for ensuring effective governance practices in respect of the Board.

9) The Board shall approve, and amend, as necessary:

- a) An Annual Statement of Purpose (Charter § 4.102);
- b) Rules and regulations consistent with the Charter and Ordinances at least annually (Charter § 4.104(1));
- c) Terms of reference describing the roles and responsibilities of the Board, Board committees, Board officers, the Executive Director, and, if ~~applicable~~applicable, a Medical Director;
- d) Any governance-related policies necessary to help ensure appropriate governance practices at SFHSS; and
- e) A Board Education Plan.

10) The Board shall:

- a) Elect a President and Vice-President of the Board on an annual basis;
- b) Establish standing or ad hoc committees or task forces as necessary;
- c) Upon the recommendation of the President, appoint Board members and a chair to each standing committee, ad hoc committee, and task force;
- d) Ensure that a Board orientation and continuing education program is in place to assist Board members in securing the knowledge they require to properly execute their duties;
- e) Annually conduct a Board performance evaluation, in which Board members may evaluate the performance and practices of the Board during the prior year and suggest opportunities for improvement;
- f) When budget permits, approve travel requests by Board members for education or other business purposes pertaining to SFHSS; and

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- g) Ensure that a record of Board and Committee meeting proceedings is maintained as required under the *San Francisco Sunshine Ordinance*, Administrative Code, Chapter 67.

Benefit Administration

- 11) The Board shall ensure the administration of health and wellness plans adopted by the Board of Supervisors under Charter section A8.422, and health and welfare plans established by the Mayor and the Board of Supervisors under Charter section 4.102.
- 12) The Board shall ensure that SFHSS management implements benefit and administration policies to ensure the efficient and effective administration of all benefit plans it administers, addressing, for example, membership rules, the annual rates, and benefits setting process, service quality standards, member communications, open enrolment rules, the confidentiality of member data, and performance evaluation of vendors.
- 13) The Board shall establish and, at least annually, review and if necessary, amend the SFHSS Rules to comply with Internal Revenue Code section 125.

Investment Administration

- 14) The Board shall administer the SFHSS Trust Fund in accordance with the Charter solely for the benefit of the active and retired members of the SFHSS and their covered dependents. (Charter § 12.203)
- 15) The Board shall have control of the administration and investment of the SFHSS Trust Fund provided that all investments shall be of the character legal for insurance companies in California. (Charter § A8.429)
- 16) In keeping with its fiduciary duty to prudently administer the SFHSS Trust Fund, the Board shall be responsible for:
- a) Approving a written investment policy statement, and reviewing, confirming, or amending such policy at least annually. The policy statement is outlined in [the 200209: SFHSS TRUST FUND INVESTMENT POLICY](#).
 - b) Ensuring qualified parties are appointed to manage SFHSS Trust Fund assets.
 - c) Ensuring regular compliance monitoring [in regard to](#) the investment policy statement.
 - d) Ensuring ongoing review of the investment performance of the Health Service Trust Fund.

Rates and Accounting

- 17) The Board shall adopt funding policies to ensure the financial health and integrity of each flex and self-funded plan, and shall be reviewed annually and, when necessary, amend said policies. The funding policy shall also address other reserves to be held in the SFHSS Trust Fund. The policy may address, among other things, appropriate contingency reserve targets for unanticipated needs and claims that are incurred but not reported ("IBNR"), the actuarial methodologies and assumptions to be used in determining reserves, and subsidies.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

18) As outlined in the City Ordinance, prior to the second Monday in January in the year, or such time consistent with the plan year set by the Board, the Board shall ensure a survey is conducted of the 10 largest counties in California, other than the City and County of San Francisco, to determine the average contribution made by each employer of such county to health benefit coverage. Based on the survey, the Board shall determine the average contribution made with respect to each employee by the 10 counties toward the health care plans provided for their employees, and shall certify to the Board of Supervisors the amount of such average contribution. (Charter § A8.423)

19) The Board shall:

- a) Ensure that management implements mechanisms to collect all required contributions to the Health SFHSS Trust Fund and to make all distributions in a timely manner;
- b) Ensure historical records on rates and costs are maintained;
- c) Ensure appropriate financial and operational controls are established by management;
- d) Ensure funding is in place to provide for the annual independent financial audit;
- e) Review with management significant accounting policy changes, as required; and
- f) Review and accept the annual audited financial statements and external auditors' management letter and take corrective action if required.

Organizational Planning & Risk Management

20) The Board shall annually ~~approve~~reviews:

- a) A strategic plan, which may include a mission statement for the SFHSS, the broad direction and goals of the SFHSS, and the specific projects that must be completed to fulfill SFHSS' direction and goals;
- b) The SFHSS annual General Fund and the Healthcare Sustainability Fund Budget;
- c) The basic SFHSS organizational structure; and
- d) Outsourcing strategies with respect to core SFHSS services, i.e., whether certain activities will be performed by an outside agent rather than SFHSS staff.

21) The Board shall ensure management develops, over time, ~~an~~ an ongoing system of operational risk management to include health plan audits and compliance plans that management reports to the Board at least annually on such system. This may be accomplished as part of the strategic planning process if deemed appropriate by SFHSS management and the Board.

Human Resources

22) The Board shall:

- a) Appoint an Executive Director and determine the duties and responsibilities of the position;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Establish a process for evaluating the performance of the Executive Director, and annually evaluate the Executive Director accordingly;
- c) Establish and annually review the compensation of the Executive Director within the ranges of the classification set for the position; and
- d) Ensure the Executive Director documents the delineation of SFHSS managerial authority and responsibility in the event the Executive Director is absent or unavailable to perform the Executive Director's duties for an extended period, along with any related procedures to ensure continuity in SFHSS operations. The Executive Director shall review such documentation, and any updates thereto with the Board, from time to time, subject to open meeting law requirements.

Communications

23) The Board shall:

- a) Ensure that an annual report describing its activities, and file such report with the Mayor and the Clerk of the Board of Supervisors; (Charter §4.103)
- b) Hold meetings open to the public and encourage the participation of interested persons; (Charter § 4.104.2)
- c) Conduct meetings in accordance with the *San Francisco Sunshine Ordinance* (San Francisco Administrative Code, Chapter 67), and the *Ralph M. Brown Act* (California Government Code, Section 54950 et seq.);
- d) Ensure that information is obtained and disseminated to the members of the SFHSS with regard to plan benefits and costs thereof; (Charter § A8.423) and
- e) Work with the Executive Director to ensure other mechanisms and procedures are in place to enable accurate, coordinated, and effective communication between the SFHSS and its stakeholders, including plan members, the City, other participating SFHSS employers, and employee groups.

Legislation and Litigation

24) The Board may, in closed session, consider and approve recommendations made by the Executive Director or legal counsel concerning settlements or other legal actions involving SFHSS.

Selection of Vendors

25) The Board shall establish policies to help ensure effective and prudent selection of service providers.

26) The Board recognizes that it is neither effective nor efficient for the Board to be involved in the selection of all service providers. Accordingly, the Board shall be responsible for approving the awarding of final contracts for the following primary service providers named below:

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- a) Actuaries;
- b) Plan Administrators;
- c) Hearing officers or firms providing the services of hearing officers;
- d) Third-party administrators retained for services in connection with non-Charter benefits and with contract values in excess of \$500,000 annually;
- e) External information technology consultants retained for services with contract values in excess of \$500,000;
- f) Services of a Medical Director;
- g) Investment managers or advisors; and
- h) Other service providers, as may be determined by the Board.

27) It is recognized and understood that the following services are provided or coordinated by various departments within the City:

- a) Financial and operational audit services;
- b) Custody services;
- c) Legal services;
- d) Investment management and advisory services; and
- e) Information technology services.

28) The Board shall communicate to the Executive Director regarding secondary service providers or classes of services providers, which the Executive Director shall be authorized to select, and the Board shall determine the controls to be put in place with respect to such authority; such as, for example, dollar limits on expenditure authority.

Monitoring

29) The Board shall ensure that appropriate monitoring and reporting practices are established and documented within SFHSS.

30) The Board shall periodically review compliance with, and the continued appropriateness of, any policies adopted by the Board including, but not limited to, policies in the following areas:

- a) Governance policies and terms of reference;
- b) Benefit design policy;
- c) Funding policies:
 - i) Rate Stabilization Reserve policy;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

ii) Incurred But Not Reported ("IBNR") policy; and

iii) Contingency Reserves policy.

d) Investment policy;

e) Health Service System rules;

f) Communication policy; and

g) Accounting policy.

31) The Board shall monitor periodically:

a) The levels of the reserves (on not less than a quarterly basis);

b) The adequacy of rates, including a retrospective review of rate-setting; and

c) The investment performance and costs of the Health System Trust Fund.

32) The Board shall ensure periodic performance reviews of key service providers including, but not limited to, insurance carriers and third-party administrators relative to pre-established performance criteria.

33) The Board shall ensure the periodic monitoring of usage and participation levels by members within SFHSS health plans, and the general affordability of the plans it administers.

34) The Board shall monitor the levels of service quality provided by the SFHSS health plans, and other benefit plans sponsored by the SFHSS, developing over time the methodologies necessary to do so.

35) The Board shall monitor:

a) Implementation of the Strategic Plan; and

b) Compliance with the SFHSS Operating Budget.

36) At least annually, the Board shall review the performance of:

a) The Executive Director; and

b) The Board itself.

Review

37) The Board shall review these terms of reference at least every three years.

History

38) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, February 10, 2022, and January 12, 2023.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

102: PRESIDENT OF THE HEALTH SERVICE BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) Unless otherwise agreed by the Board, at its regular meeting in June of each year, the Board shall elect one Board member to serve as President. The President shall take office at the regular ~~July~~ meeting in July immediately following the election and the President's term shall continue until the assumption of office by the next President at the regular meeting in the following July.

Duties and Responsibilities

- 2) The President shall exercise the powers and shall perform the duties and functions as specified herein:
 - a) Preside at all Board meetings, ensuring that such meetings are conducted efficiently and in accordance with the *San Francisco Sunshine Ordinance* (Administrative Code, Chapter 67), the *Ralph M. Brown Act* (California Government Code, section 54950 et seq.), and the policies of the Board;
 - b) Recommend to the Board the creation of task forces or ad hoc committees of the Board, and the appointment of members and a chair to each standing committee, ad hoc committee, and task force. Recommendations concerning membership and chairs of standing committees are generally to be made by the President at the Board meeting following the meeting at which the President is elected;
 - c) Authenticate by his or her signature when necessary, or when required by law, all documents authorized by the Board;
 - d) Call special meetings. Special meetings may be called by the President; however, they must be called by the President upon the written request of a majority of the members of the Board or authorization by a majority of the Board at a prior meeting. This provision must be implemented in a manner consistent with applicable open meeting laws;
 - e) In situations that call for a spokesperson to speak on behalf of the SFHSS, the President shall consult with the Executive Director and determine whether the President, Executive Director or another individual should serve as a spokesperson in the situation in question;
 - f) Review the agenda of each Board meeting with the Executive Director prior to the meeting;
 - g) Be available to assist committee chairs in carrying out their duties; and
 - h) Be available to assist the Executive Director in the orientation process for new Board members.

Review

- 3) The Board shall review these terms of reference at least every three years.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

History

- 4) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

103: SFHSS VICE PRESIDENT OF THE BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) Unless otherwise agreed by the Board, at its regular meeting in June of each year, the Board shall elect one Board member to serve as Vice President. The Vice President so elected shall take office at the regular meeting in July immediately following the election and the Vice President's term shall continue until the assumption of office by the next Vice President at the regular meeting in the following July.

Duties and Responsibilities

- 2) The Vice-President shall assume the duties of the President when the President is absent, or when the President shall designate the Vice-President to act. In the event of death, resignation, removal from office, or permanent disability of the President, the Vice-President shall temporarily act for the President until such time as an election can be held to elect a new President.

Review

- 3) These terms of reference shall be reviewed by the Board at least every three years.

History

- 4) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

104: SFHSS EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) The Executive Director shall hold office at the pleasure of the Board and shall be responsible to the Board as a Board, but not to any individual member or committee thereof. (Charter §12.201)
- 2) The Executive Director shall provide leadership for the SFHSS in implementing programs necessary to achieve the mission, goals, and objectives established by the Board, and shall manage the day-to-day affairs of SFHSS in accordance with the Charter.
- 3) The Executive Director is the executive ultimately responsible for the entire operations of SFHSS. The Executive Director shall ensure proper delegation of duties to senior management and staff to maximize the efficiency and effectiveness of SFHSS resources.
- 4) The Executive Director shall provide support to the Board and its committees in establishing all policies of the Board including identifying and analyzing issues requiring Board policy and providing policy options and clear, well-supported policy recommendations for consideration by the Board or its committees.
- 5) In addition to having operational responsibility for SFHSS, the Executive Director is responsible for assisting and supporting the Board and its standing committees in carrying out the duties and responsibilities set out in their respective terms of reference.

Duties & Responsibilities

Governance

- 6) The Executive Director shall assist the Board in its governance functions by:
 - a) Recommending terms of reference and other policies to ensure appropriate governance practices;
 - b) Coordinating new Board member education and training and additional education within budget limitations in accordance with the Board Education Policy and Board Education Plan; and:
 - c) Coordinating Board member travel within budget limitations.

Benefits Administration and Operations

- 7) The Executive Director shall direct and oversee all SFHSS administrative and operational activities including:
 - a) Developing and implementing all policies necessary to ensure the effective administration of member benefits and reporting to the Board, and directing administrative staff involved in the delivery of service to plan members and in SFHSS operations;
 - b) Developing and recommending a strategic plan to the Board;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- c) Developing an annual operating budget, as well as applicable departmental budgets, and presenting them to the Board for approval as part of the City's budget process;
- d) Ensuring a system of operational risk management is in place, which addresses, among other things, sound records, data management, and security;
- e) Ensuring prudent fiscal management, oversight, and reporting of SFHSS operations;
- f) Negotiating and executing agreements, and authorizing payments related to the administration of SFHSS and the appointment of all service providers, consistent with the operating budget and internal SFHSS controls;
- g) Ensuring effective and timely communication with members and stakeholders on matters relating to SFHSS administration; and
- h) Representing the SFHSS at the Board of Supervisors and other City departments on the budget and other matters affecting the SFHSS.

Human Resources

- 8) Consistent with the City's Administrative Code, applicable civil service rules, the operating budget, and collective bargaining agreements, the Executive Director shall hire, direct, supervise, and when appropriate, terminate senior executives of the SFHSS and shall oversee the hiring, management, and termination of staff. The Executive Director shall manage the employee grievance process relating to SFHSS staff in accordance with the City Charter, Administrative Code, and the collective bargaining agreements; and shall inform the Board of any issues as appropriate.
- 9) The Executive Director shall ensure ongoing assessment of SFHSS human resource needs and the development of appropriate human resource programs and procedures, including succession planning and coordination with other City departments as necessary.

Legislation and Litigation

- 10) The Executive Director shall carry out the following duties with the advice of legal counsel ~~as necessary~~ as necessary:
 - a) Monitor trends regarding legislation that may have a significant impact on SFHSS;
 - b) Report to the Board on legislative proposals that could significantly affect the SFHSS, and recommend whether the Board should take any action;
 - c) Manage and coordinate, with legal counsel, all legal proceedings involving SFHSS;
 - d) Provide recommendations to the Board concerning member appeals, settlements, or other legal actions involving SFHSS;
 - e) Make recommendations or proposals to the Board on a proactive basis regarding Charter amendments that are consistent with the SFHSS' mission; and

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- f) Recommend to the Board that obsolete provisions of the Administrative Code be eliminated, or that various provisions of the Administrative Code be amended to reflect Charter amendments or new or revised State legislation.

Service Providers

11) The Executive Director shall:

- a) Initiate and conduct the solicitations for contracts, and shall apprise the Board ~~of information~~ of information regarding the selection process;
- b) Negotiate and execute all ~~service providers~~ service provider vendor agreements;
- c) Appoint those service providers for which the Board has delegated appointing authority to the Executive Director, in accordance with the Service Provider/Vendor Selection Policy or other Board action; and
- d) Regularly monitor the performance of all SFHSS service providers, and report regularly to ~~the Board~~ the Board on such monitoring efforts.

Monitoring and Reporting

- 12) The Executive Director shall ensure that monitoring and control mechanisms are in place to ensure that policies and procedures are properly implemented and that the operations of the SFHSS are effective.
- 13) The Executive Director shall provide the Board with relevant, appropriate, and timely information to enable it to properly carry out its oversight responsibilities. The Executive Director shall also apprise the Board in a timely manner of all significant issues, problems, or developments pertaining to SFHSS, and provide recommended courses of action as appropriate.

Review

- 14) The Board shall review these terms of reference at least every three years.

History

- 15) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

105: SFHSS BUDGET AND FINANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) The Board has established the Budget and Finance Committee to assist the Board in the financial oversight of the SFHSS, including oversight of all audits of the SFHSS and the budgeting process. These financial oversight duties may be performed as a committee of the whole.

Composition

- 2) Upon the recommendation of the President, the Budget and Finance Committee shall be comprised of three Board members including the Committee Chair, all of whom shall be appointed by the Board.
- 3) The Executive Director shall designate a staff member to provide administrative support to the Budget and Finance Committee.

Operational Rules

- 4) The Budget and Finance Committee shall adhere to the following operational rules:
 - a) The presence of a majority shall constitute a quorum;
 - b) All actions of the Budget and Finance Committee shall be by a vote of the majority of the ~~members present~~ members present at a meeting of the Finance Committee, provided a quorum is present;
 - c) To be effective, all actions of the Budget and Finance Committee shall be approved by the Board;
 - d) The Budget and Finance Committee shall meet at least annually, or more often if it deems necessary.
- 5) The Budget and Finance Committee may establish other operational rules, procedures, calendars, and agendas for the Committee, as necessary, provided they are consistent with the Charter and ~~City ordinances~~ City ordinances, and Board policies.
- 6) The Budget and Finance Committee shall periodically review its terms of reference and advise the Governance Committee with respect to modifications, as appropriate.

Duties and Responsibilities

Audits and Examinations

- 7) The Budget and Finance Committee shall:
 - a) Provide clear direction to SFHSS that the independent financial auditor is accountable to share a report to the Board;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- i. Budget and Finance Chair, in consultation with Board President, [CFO, Chief Financial Officer](#) and Executive Director, will make a recommendation for the report to be submitted directly to the Committee or directly to the full Board for its review.
- b) Receive presentations from SFHSS management or the external financial auditor regarding the annual audited financial statements, review any responses by management, and recommend any appropriate actions to the Board;
- c) Provide the appropriate forum to review and comment on finalized management letters submitted ~~by the~~ [by the](#) financial auditor, review management's responses thereto, and provide recommendations to the Board, as appropriate; and
- d) Provide the appropriate forum for handling all policy-related matters with respect to audits, examinations, and investigations or inquiries by local, state, or federal agencies in conjunction with the Executive Director and SFHSS staff.

Annual Budgeting Process

8) The Budget and Finance Committee shall:

- a) Review the annual [SFHSS](#) Administrative Budget and the Healthcare Sustainability Fund Budget of ~~the SFHSS~~ and all requested modifications and supplements thereto;
- b) Recommend the [SFHSS](#) Administrative Budget and the Healthcare Sustainability Fund Budgets to the Board for approval; and
- c) Monitor SFHSS budget variance reports every quarter and recommend appropriate action to the Board and Executive Director, if necessary.

Other

9) The Budget and Finance Committee shall:

- a) Review any significant changes in accounting practices or policies that may impact SFHSS' financial status;
- b) Report regularly to the Board on its activities; and
- c) Perform any other duties assigned by the Board.

Review

10) The Board shall review these terms of reference at least every three years.

History

11) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

106: SFHSS GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE TERMS OF REFERENCE

Introduction

- 1) The Board has established the Governance Committee to assist the Board in:
 - a) Developing, overseeing, and implementing the governance policies and practices of the Board and its committees; and
 - b) Coordinating the performance evaluations of the Board and the Executive Director
- 2) Upon the recommendation of the President, the Governance Committee shall be comprised of three Board members, including the committee chair, all of whom shall be appointed by the Board.
- 3) The Executive Director shall designate a staff member to provide administrative support to the Governance Committee.

Operational Rules

- 4) The Governance Committee shall adhere to the following operational rules:
 - a) The presence of a majority shall constitute a quorum;
 - b) All actions of the Governance Committee shall be by a vote of the majority of ~~the members~~ the members present at a meeting of the Committee, provided a quorum is present;
 - c) All actions of the Governance Committee shall be approved by the Board to be effective, unless otherwise provided herein; and
 - d) The Governance Committee shall meet at least annually.
- 5) The Governance Committee shall establish other operational rules, procedures, calendars, and agendas for the Committee, as necessary, provided they are consistent with the Charter, City ordinances, and Board policies.

Duties and Responsibilities

- 6) The Governance Committee shall:
 - a) In consultation with the Executive Director, develop and recommend to the Board terms of reference for the:
 - i) Board;
 - ii) Committees of the Board;
 - iii) President and Vice President of the Board; and
 - iv) Executive Director. Periodically recommend to the Board such amendments to the terms of reference as may ~~be necessary~~ be necessary or advisable;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Recommend to the Board any modifications to the committee structure of the Board, e.g., the addition or elimination of any committees;
- c) Review, develop, and recommend to the Board for approval, new governance policies as maybe necessary, and review existing governance policies in accordance with the schedule for review established within each policy;
- d) Recommend to the Board a Board Education Plan and updates thereto;
- e) Co-ordinate the implementation of the annual Board performance evaluation policy, ~~including approving~~ including approving and amending as necessary any surveys or similar forms used in the evaluation;
- f) Coordinate the implementation of the annual Executive Director performance evaluation policy. The Committee shall recommend to the Board the criteria to be used in evaluating ~~the performance~~ the performance of the Executive Director, and shall have the authority to approve minor amendments as necessary to any surveys or similar instruments used to perform the evaluation;
- g) Monitor compliance with governance-related policies, rules, and legislation, and address any alleged violations;
- h) Report regularly to the Board on its activities; and
- i) At the request of the Board, undertake such other governance-related initiatives as may be necessary or desirable to contribute to the success of SFHSS.

Review

- 7) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

- 8) These terms of reference were adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007; amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

201: SFHSS BOARD OPERATIONS POLICY

Purpose

- 1) This Board Operations Policy is intended to set out the manner in which the Board shall conduct its business and includes guidelines addressing, among other things, the appointment of officers, the establishment of committees, and the conduct of meetings.

Board Composition

- 2) Under Charter Section 12.200, the Board consists of seven members:
 - a) One member of the Board of Supervisors appointed by the President of the Board of Supervisors;
 - b) Two members to be appointed by the Mayor. (The two members appointed by the Mayor shall be appointed in accordance with the requirements set forth in Charter section 3.100 and Charter sections 12.100 –12.103.)
 - c) One member is appointed by the Controller. If the Board fails to calendar the Controller's nomination for consideration at a meeting to occur not later than 60 days after receipt of the Controller's written notice of nomination, the Controller's nominee shall be deemed approved.
 - d) Three members elected from the active and retired members of the SFHSS from among their number.
- 3) The term of office of each member, except the member of the Board of Supervisors, shall be five years.
- 4) Vacancies on the Board:
 - a) A vacancy on the Board appointed by the Mayor shall be filled by the Mayor.
 - b) A vacancy in the Controller's appointed position shall be filled by the Controller and confirmed by the Board.
 - c) A vacancy in an elected office on the Board shall be filled by a special election within 90 days after the vacancy occurs unless a regular election is to be held within six months after such vacancy shall have occurred. (Charter section 12.200).

Election of President and Vice President

- 5) There shall be a President and Vice President of the Board each of whom shall be a Board member. (SHFSS Rules and Regulations, A3)
- 6) At its regular meeting in June of each year, the Board shall elect one Board member to ~~serve as~~ serve as President and one Board member to serve as Vice President. The President and Vice President shall take office at the regular meeting in the month of July immediately following the election and their terms shall continue until the assumption of office by the next President and

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Vice President at the regular meeting in the following July. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A3(a))~~

- 7) In electing a President and Vice-President, it is expected that, at a minimum, the following criteria will be considered:
 - a) Demonstrated leadership abilities;
 - b) Committee and committee chairperson experience; and
 - c) Time availability.
- 8) If an officer vacates his office prior to the end of his term, an election shall be held at the next regular meeting of the Board to select a new officer who shall take office immediately upon election and shall hold office for the unexpired term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, so long as there is no President, the Vice President shall act as President until a new President is elected and takes office. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A3(b))~~
- 9) Neither President nor Vice President may hold such office for more than two consecutive one-year terms. This two-term limit shall not include service for any unexpired term pursuant herein. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A3(c))~~

Board Committees

- 10) Based on the recommendations of the President, the Board shall:
 - a) Approve the establishment of standing and ad hoc committees; and
 - b) Annually approve the members and chairs of standing and ad hoc committees.
- 11) The standing committees of the Board shall be as follows:
 - a) Budget and Finance Committee
 - b) Governance Committee
- 12) The Governance Committee shall be responsible for recommending to the Board terms of reference for each standing committee of the Board.
- 13) Committees shall be comprised of not more than three Board members, one of whom shall be the committee chair.
- 14) In the event of a vacancy on any standing or ad hoc committee, the President shall appoint a replacement to hold office for the balance of the unexpired term.
- 15) The term of office for chairs of standing committees shall be one year. No chair of a standing committee may hold such office for more than two consecutive one-year terms. This two-term limit shall not include service for any unexpired term as set forth above.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- 16) Members and chairs of ad hoc committees shall serve until the dissolution of the committee, or until the Board determines otherwise.
- 17) In the absence of a committee chair, the committee chair may designate in advance another committee member to act as chair for a particular meeting, failing which the remaining committee members shall designate one of themselves to act as chair for such meeting.
- 18) The Executive Director shall designate a staff member to provide administrative support ~~to each~~ to each committee.

Meetings of the Board and Committees

- 19) The time and location of Board meetings shall be as follows:
- a) Regular meetings of the Board shall be held at 1:00 p.m. on the second Thursday of the ~~month~~ month at City Hall Room 416, San Francisco, or at such other time or place as the Board, at a prior regular meeting, may designate. In the event this day is a holiday, the meeting shall be held on the third Thursday unless otherwise determined by the Board. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A1(a))~~
 - b) Special meetings of the Board may be called at any time by the President or by a majority of the Board, however, special meetings of the Board for closed sessions with legal counsel may precede or follow the regular meeting of the Board. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A1(b))~~
- 20) All meetings shall be open and public, and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meetings of the Board. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may meet in closed ~~session~~ session when authorized by the Ralph M. Brown Act of the State of California (the "Brown Act"), the San Francisco Sunshine Ordinance, Chapter 67 of the San Francisco Administrative Code, and Charter section 4.104(2). ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A1(c))~~

Committee Meetings

- 21) Standing committees shall meet at times and places agreed to by the committee. Ad hoc committees shall meet as required.
- 22) If possible, committee meetings shall take place at City Hall, San Francisco. To assist committee members in planning to attend meetings, each standing committee shall if feasible, establish an annual forward agenda or meeting schedule.

Teleconferencing

- 23) Board members may not participate by teleconference in Board or committee meetings except as may occur during a state of emergency and/or otherwise allowed under State and Local law.
- 24) Advisors and other vendors may participate by teleconference at Board and committee meetings to the extent permitted by law.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Calendar, Meeting Materials, Minutes

- 25) The agenda for Board and committee meetings shall be prepared by the Executive Director and, if time permits, reviewed and approved by the President or committee chair respectively. Board and committee members may request that the Executive Director, President, or committee chair calendar any item for a Board or committee meeting, and such requests may be made at or outside a Board or committee meeting. The Executive Director, President, and committee chairs shall make a good faith effort to ensure all such requests are calendared within a reasonable period of time.
- 26) Consent agendas may be used to address items that staff considers to be routine and non-controversial. The consent agenda may be approved by one motion if no member of the Board or public wishes to comment or ask questions about any item on the consent agenda. If a comment or discussion on any item is desired by anyone, the item will be removed from the consent agenda and will be considered separately by the Board.
- 27) The Board shall receive an advance calendar and the related meeting materials no later than the Friday preceding the next scheduled meeting.
- 28) Only items that have been calendared will be heard by the Board at any meeting. The Board may consider emergency items provided they have been noticed in writing at least 24 hours ~~in advance~~ in advance of the Board meeting, consistent with the Ralph M. Brown Act.
- 29) A request that a calendared item be heard out of order shall be presented at the start of the meeting to the President. The President shall decide if the request shall be granted based ~~on the~~ on the reason for the request.
- 30) All calendared matters to be postponed shall be announced at the start of the meeting. During a meeting, any Board member or any interested party may request postponement of an action. The President shall approve or reject any request to postpone an action being considered by the Board at its meeting, subject to the discretion of the full Board.
- 31) With respect to minutes:
- a) The Secretary to the Board shall record in the minutes the time and place of each Board and committee meeting, the names of the Board members present, all official acts of the Board ~~or committee~~ or committee, and the votes of the members; and
 - b) The minutes shall be written and presented for correction and approval within a reasonable time. The minutes, or a true copy thereof, shall be certified by the Board Secretary.

Resolutions

- 32) The term "resolution" shall mean any action of the Board which prescribes or defines ~~in written in~~ written form a Board policy or decision.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

33) The Board shall enact and adopt resolutions as follows:

- a) At any regular or special Board meeting, any Board member may move for the adoption of a resolution which may be stated orally or in writing;
- b) The Executive Director shall be responsible for performing, or causing to be performed, all necessary research and analysis to support resolutions prior to their adoption by the Board;
- c) Prior to adoption, the proposed resolution shall be prepared by the Executive Director in proper format, and the Executive Director may, if necessary, forward the resolution to the City Attorney's Office for approval as to format and legality. The proposed resolution shall thereafter be presented to the Board for action; and
- d) An adopted resolution shall be signed and dated by the President and the Executive Director.

34) All adopted resolutions shall be numbered in an orderly sequence and shall be retained in the office of the ~~Executive Director~~ Board Secretary. The resolutions shall be readily accessible to members of the SFHSS and the public at large.

35) The Executive Director shall notify the Board of any legislative or court action which would require the rescinding, amending, or modifying a Board resolution.

Quorum, Rules of Order, and Voting

36) The presence of a majority of the members of an appointive Board, commission, or other units of government shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business by such body. Unless otherwise required by the Charter, the affirmative vote of a majority of the members shall be required for the approval of any matter, except that the Operations Policy or Membership Rules may provide that, with respect to matters of procedure, the body may act by the affirmative vote of a majority of the members present, so long as the members present constitute a quorum. (Charter section 4.104)

37) The majority of the members of each committee shall constitute a quorum, and committees may act by a majority of the members present at a committee meeting provided, however, that a quorum is in attendance.

38) Board and committee members may not vote by proxy and must be present at a meeting in order to vote.

39) Except as otherwise provided in this Operations Policy, Robert's Rules of Order in its latest revision shall guide the Board as to rules of order in the event of a dispute among Board members.

~~40)~~ When a Board member desires to address the Board, the member shall seek recognition by addressing the presiding officer. When recognized, the Board member shall proceed to speak, confining his remarks to the question before the Board. No discussion shall take place until a resolution or motion has been moved and seconded, or until a calendared item has been introduced. (~~SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A6~~)

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

~~41~~~~40~~) The Board may take action only upon a motion by a Board member, seconded by another Board member.

~~42~~~~41~~) Each member of the Board present at a regular or special meeting must vote “yes” or “no” when a question is put unless excused from voting by a motion adopted by a majority of ~~the members~~ the members present. (Charter section 4.104)

~~43~~~~42~~) Tie votes shall be handled as follows:

- a) A tie vote on an affirmative motion shall be deemed to be a failure to adopt such motion, and the matter or request before the Board is denied; and
- b) A tie vote on a negative motion shall be deemed to be a failure to adopt such motion, but the matter or request remains before the Board for action.

~~44~~~~43~~) Nothing in this policy shall prohibit the President or a committee chair from making or seconding a motion, voting on a motion, and otherwise participating as a Board member.

~~45~~~~44~~) A motion to reconsider a Board action can only be proposed by a Board member who voted with the prevailing side, however, a Board member who is not eligible to move to reconsider may briefly state their reasons for reconsideration. If the Board does not consent to hear the matter, the request is denied, and the previous action is final.

~~46~~~~45~~) Requests for rulings on moot or hypothetical questions will not be permitted by the Board.

Attendance

~~47~~~~46~~) Except in the event of a notified absence (defined below), each member of the Board is expected to attend each regular or special meetings of the Board and each meeting of any committees on which they serve. The Commission Secretary shall maintain a record of members' attendance.

~~48~~~~47~~) A Board member's absence shall constitute a notified absence where the Board member, in advance of the meeting, informs the Commission Secretary that the member will be absent. An absence due to unforeseen circumstances such as illness or emergency shall also qualify as a notified absence where the member reports such absence to one of the above-mentioned parties as soon as reasonably possible. The Commission Secretary shall record as non-notified all absences involving neither advance notice nor unforeseen circumstances.

~~49~~~~48~~) The Commission Secretary shall report all instances of non-notified absences as well as any instance of three consecutive absences of a member from Board or committee meetings in a fiscal year to the member's appointing authority.

~~50~~~~49~~) At the end of each fiscal year, the Commission Secretary shall submit a written report to the appointing authorities of the Board detailing each Board member's attendance at all meetings of the Board and its committees for that fiscal year.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Public Comment

~~54)~~50) Before taking a vote on any action item, the Board shall ask for public comment. Each speaker shall be limited to three (3) minutes of comments with respect to each action item. This rule may be waived at the discretion of the presiding officer, or by a vote of a majority of the Board members present. The Board Secretary may be asked to time each speaker and to notify such speaker when the time limit has expired. Notwithstanding the foregoing, when a large number of speakers wish to comment on a particular action item, a reasonable overall time limit may be placed on public comment for such action item, and each speaker may thereby be limited to a period of comment that is less than three minutes. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

~~52)~~51) Speakers who wish to make public comment may be requested to fill out speaker cards ~~in advance provided~~provided in advance, however, that a speaker may nevertheless choose to remain anonymous. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

~~53)~~52) Each speaker's comments must be pertinent to the item under consideration by the Board. The presiding officer of the meeting shall be the sole judge of such pertinence and may limit comments to the extent they do not pertain to the item under consideration or are duplicative of points made by previous speakers. Members of the Board need not respond after each speaker's comments. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

~~54)~~53) Members of the public may address the Board on any matter within the Board's jurisdiction during the "Other Business" item on the agenda. No formal action shall be taken on any matter raised during such agenda item unless such action is permitted under the Brown ~~Act and~~Act and the Sunshine Ordinance. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

~~55)~~54) If an agenda item is continued from one meeting to another, any member of the public who commented on such item at the initial meeting need not be permitted to comment on such item at the next meeting. This rule shall not apply, however, if the agenda item is modified in any manner after the initial meeting. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

~~56)~~55) Members of the public who disrupt a meeting by making noise, speaking out of turn, or otherwise refusing to comply with these Rules shall be given a warning and an opportunity to correct their behavior. Thereafter, the Board may take action to have any such member(s) removed from the meeting. ~~(SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations, A5)~~

Review

~~57)~~56) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

~~58)~~57) This policy was adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007, and amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

202: SFHSS BOARD EDUCATION POLICY

Policy Objectives

- 1) The Board recognizes that Board members come to the Board with varying levels of knowledge and experience in the health and other employee benefits areas and that all Board members can benefit from a formal Board education program. Furthermore, a well-designed Board education program will benefit SFHSS and its members and therefore ~~justifies~~~~justify~~~~justifies~~ prudent budgeting for, and expenditure of SFHSS administrative funds and resources.
- 2) The objectives of this policy are to establish policy guidelines to help ensure:
 - a) Board members have ~~an adequate opportunity~~~~adequate opportunities~~ and assistance to acquire the knowledge they need to effectively carry out their SFHSS Board member duties; and
 - b) Any expenditure of SFHSS funds or resources is prudent, cost-effective, and ~~consistent with~~~~consistent with~~ the best interests of the Board, SFHSS, and its beneficiaries.

Commented [CH3]: Should be "justifies" because the subject (Board education program) is singular.

Assumptions

- 3) This policy sets out various expectations concerning the efforts Board members should make to educate themselves on matters pertaining to health and other employee benefits. It is understood that any actual efforts undertaken by the Board or individual Board members shall be contingent on the availability of budget resources.
- 4) Though there may be limited resources available to fund attendance at educational conferences, a Board education policy is nevertheless necessary to define and guide other approaches to education available to the Board.
- 5) No single method of educating Board members is optimal – therefore, a Board education program should include a variety of educational methods and tools.

General Provisions

- 6) As fiduciaries, Board members are required to be knowledgeable of all matters concerning health and employee benefits policy and oversight. Accordingly, and within the constraints of available resources:
 - a) Board members agree to develop and maintain an adequate level of knowledge and understanding of relevant issues pertaining to SFHSS oversight and policy-setting ~~throughout their~~~~throughout their~~ terms on the Board; and
 - b) Board members agree to pursue appropriate education across a range of ~~employee-~~~~benefit-related~~~~employee-benefit-related~~ areas, including:
 - i) Governance and fiduciary duty;
 - ii) Health and welfare plan design; Funding of health and welfare plans;

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- iii) Actuarial science;
 - iv) Benefits administration; and
 - v) The regulatory and legal environment in which SFHSS operates.
- 7) In addition to technical knowledge, the Board recognizes that the Board training program should provide Board members with an understanding of the environment in which SFHSS operates, including the SFHSS's relationship to the Board of Supervisors, SFHSS participating employers, and other City departments.
- 8) The Board considers the following types of vehicles to be appropriate for training its Board members and encourages Board members to take advantage of them, where budget resources permit:
- a) External conferences, seminars, workshops, roundtables, and similar events (collectively "conferences");
 - b) Meetings of associations or other similar bodies within the health and welfare industry;
 - c) In-house educational seminars or briefings by staff, City Administration, Board ~~service providers~~ [service providers](#), or other special advisors;
 - d) Relevant periodicals, journals, textbooks, or similar materials; and
 - e) Electronic media including webinars and podcasts.
- 9) Where budget resources permit, the Executive Director shall, on an ongoing basis, identify appropriate educational opportunities and include details of such through electronic means to Board members and in Board meeting packages for Board members' consideration. Board members are also encouraged to suggest educational programs that may provide value to the Board. Conferences requiring overnight lodging or other significant travel-related expenses should include an average of at least 5 hours of substantive educational content per day.
- 10) Board members shall attempt to meet the following minimum goals, provided sufficient budget resources are available:
- a) To secure, over time, a useful level of understanding in each of the topic areas listed in paragraph 6b above;
 - b) To attend at least one conference annually, which includes at least 5 hours of substantive educational content per day of the conference; (Recommended conferences are listed in Appendix 1 of this policy)
 - c) Regularly attend online educational events, e.g., webinars identified as relevant to the Board; and

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- d) Participate in in-house educational seminars or briefings that may be organized from time to time.

11) Board members shall annually complete the City training program on the Sunshine Ordinance and any other training programs mandated by the City. Attendance at such programs will be documented and reported to the Board Secretary on an annual basis.

Education Plan

12) The Board shall adopt a Board Education Plan covering a 1-3-year period and shall update the Plan as necessary.

13) The Board Education Plan may set out the educational goals of the Board, with key topics to be covered over time by the Board and individual board members, and shall cover both external and in-house education efforts. The Plan shall include a tentative schedule of topics to be addressed and associated timing.

Orientation Program

14) A formal orientation program, covering the general topic areas outlined in paragraphs 6b and 7 above will be developed by the Executive Director for new Board members. The orientation program will aim to ensure that new Board members are in a position to contribute fully to Board and committee deliberations, and effectively carry out their duties as soon as possible after joining the Board.

15) As part of the orientation process, new Board members shall, within 45 days of their election or appointment to the Board, be provided one or more general orientation sessions during which they shall be:

- a) Briefed by the Executive Director on the history, background, and structure of SFHSS;
- b) Oriented by the Executive Director and President on current issues before the Board;
- c) Provided an overview of the current health plans and benefits, the benefit and funding policies of the Board, and how all such plans, benefits, and policies have evolved;
- d) Introduced to members of senior management;
- e) Provided a tour of SFHSS offices;
- f) Briefed on their fiduciary duties, conflict of interest guidelines, *The Brown Act*, the *Sunshine Ordinance* and other pertinent legislation;
- g) Provided with:
 - i. A Board Member Reference Manual (the contents of which are listed in Appendix 2 of this policy);

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- ii. A listing of recommended educational programs; and
- iii. Other relevant information and documentation are deemed appropriate by the Executive Director.

- 16) Within 30 days of being appointed or elected to the Board or leaving the Board, Board members must complete a *Statement of Economic Interest and any other disclosure forms required by law*. The Board Secretary shall provide new Board members with any necessary assistance. Thereafter, Board members shall complete, and file said disclosure forms on an annual basis, or consistent with the requirements of applicable laws.
- 17) As part of the orientation process, the Executive Director shall also make available a series of in-house education seminars for the benefit of new Board members, generally within four (4) months of their election or appointment to the Board. Seminars will be designed and scheduled in consultation with the Board member(s) in question. Although intended for new Board members, any Board member may attend. The seminars will cover, at a minimum, basic health, and welfare-related topics including health plan design, actuarial topics, SFHSS operations, legislation, and trust/fiduciary law.
- 18) The Executive Director shall review and update the Board Reference Manual as needed. A master copy of the Board Member Reference Manual will be available for use by Board members at the SFHSS offices.

Continuing Education – In-House Education Seminars

- 19) Annually, the Executive Director shall, after seeking Board input, identify at least two (2) topics of relevance to the Board, and shall organize one or more in-house educational sessions on these topics. Such sessions may be appended to regular Board or committee meetings or be ~~organized as~~ organized as stand-alone sessions.

Attendance at Conferences & Association Meetings

- 20) Approval for attendance and reimbursement of travel expenses in connection with educational conferences or association meetings will be in accordance with the provisions set out in the SFHSS Board Travel Policy.

Reporting

- 21) Board members shall inform the Executive Director, for information purposes, of all health and welfare-related conferences attended, whether funded by SFHSS or not.
- 22) Attendees shall complete a brief written assessment of the quality and relevance of each conference attended (~~see Conference Attendance Form~~). The Executive Director shall review these assessments and update the list of recommended conferences as appropriate.
- 23) Upon returning from a conference, attendees are expected to share insights, observations and learnings with other Board members within 60 days of return and may do so via a summary memo. may report to the Board on information or knowledge attained at the conference for the

Formatted: Not Expanded by / Condensed by

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

benefit of Board members who did not attend.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

24) On an annual basis, the Board Secretary shall submit a report to the Board on the educational activities of the Board completed in the prior year. At a minimum, the report will summarize the implementation of the Board Education Plan including for example:

- a) Attendance by Board members at conferences during the year;
- b) Webinars made available to Board members;
- c) Education sessions held during Board meetings;
- d) Special in-house educational sessions held during the year; and
- e) Other educational activities undertaken during the year.

Review

25) The Board shall review this policy at least every year.

History

26) The Board adopted this policy on February 22, 2007, amended it on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, ~~and further amended it on February 10, 2022~~ and further amended it on December 11, 2025.

APPENDIX [1](#)

Suggested Conferences, Seminars, and Webinars

The following associations or conference organizers have been found to provide informative educational conferences and webinars. Conferences typically also contain five (5) hours of substantive educational content per day, as required by the Board's travel policy. Board members are encouraged to visit their websites as a first step in identifying potential conferences to attend.

International Foundation of Employee Benefit Plans

Organizes an annual conference and other conferences and seminars throughout the year

Contact:

P.O. Box 69
Brookfield, WI 53008-0069
(888) 334-3327

APPENDIX 1

Board Member Reference Manual

A Board Member Reference Manual shall include the following materials

- 1) Most recent plan descriptions or member handbooks
- 2) Most recent Annual Report
- 3) Organizational chart
- 4) Contact information for the Executive Director and Board members
- 5) Listing of current committee assignments
- 6) Relevant City Charter and Administrative Code provisions
- 7) Terms of [R](#)eference and Board policies
- 8) Glossary of key health and welfare administration terms and definitions
- ~~9) SFHSS Membership Rules and Regulations~~

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

APPENDIX 2

Travel Policy

Travel Authorization

- 1) Each Board member is generally limited to one seminar or conference requiring travel outside of San Francisco County and/or overnight lodging per fiscal year, ~~with pre-approval as noted described below~~. No more than one conference per year ~~may involve~~ may involve travel to a destination outside the United States.
- 2) As a general rule, Board members should incur only those expenses that a reasonable and prudent ~~person would~~ person would incur when traveling on official business.
- 3) Attendance by Board members at seminars and conferences requiring travel outside of San Francisco County and/or overnight lodging requires prior approval of the Board and is subject to the limits set out ~~in paragraph in paragraph~~ 1.
- 4) Attendance by Board members at association meetings, due diligence visits, or other Board business requiring travel outside of San Francisco County and/or overnight lodging also requires prior Board approval.
- 5) All requests for business travel require approval in advance by the Board. A travel authorization form ~~must be~~ must be completed by the requestor and signed by the President of the Board or designee.
 - a) Information required for authorization includes:
 - i. Dates of travel and location
 - ii. The business purpose of travel/training/conference
 - iii. Estimated expenses including, but not limited to, when applicable, registration fee, cost of ~~an airticket~~ air ticket, other transportation costs, and lodging, ~~must be itemized with details, or any changes made by the Controller.~~
 - b) The authorization form must be forwarded to Chief Financial ~~and Affordability~~ Officer ("CFAO") to approve the ~~use of~~ use of funds and confirm all City requirements are met.
 - c) The CFO shall forward the authorization form to the Executive Director for final preauthorization approval.
- 6) The acceptance of any gifts which enable Board members to attend seminars and conferences ~~requires prior approval of the Board in strict compliance with Fair Political Practices Commission Regulations, section 18944.2 is not allowed by the San Francisco Health Service System. All travel must be paid for using City Funds.~~

Review and approval of educational travel will depend on the cost, substance, and quality of the seminar or conference. As a general rule, travel to a conference or seminar outside of San

Formatted: Normal, Indent: Left: 1.15", Right: 0.57", Space Before: 4.7 pt, No bullets or numbering, Tab stops: Not at 1.16"

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

APPENDIX 2

Francisco County and/or requiring overnight lodging should only be approved if the conference/seminar agenda contains an average of five (5) hours of substantive educational content per day. The Board may waive this requirement if the best interests of SFHSS would be served by such a waiver.

- ~~7) Board members who travel to attend a conference are expected to share insights, observations and learnings with other board members within 60 days of return and may do so via a summary memo.~~

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

~~content per day. The Board may waive this requirement if the best interests of SFHSS would be served by such a waiver.~~

8)7) The Board recognizes that Board members are often considered experts in their professional fields or ~~as having as having~~ considerable experience as a Board member. As such, they may often be asked to speak at conferences. While SFHSS encourages the exchange of professional information, it must be evident that such speaking engagements would provide value to SFHSS before attendance is authorized on ~~SFHSS' SFHSS's~~ behalf.

Cost of Administration

9)8) Travel expenses of Board members shall be direct costs of administration to SFHSS and may not be paid through third-party contracts, ~~without the express approval of the Board or the Executive Director~~. Board members shall comply with applicable requirements for expenses paid, ~~or reimbursed by third parties~~.

Authorized Expenses

9) Authorized travel expenses include lodging, transportation costs, registration or attendance fees, meals, and other costs reasonably and necessarily incurred when the Board member is required to travel on official SFHSS Board business.

- a) Tipping – SFHSS will only reimburse up to a 15% tip on any reimbursement turned in for reimbursement.
- a)b) Food – SFHSS will reimburse meals up to the daily GSA per-diem rate. If itemized receipts are turned in for meals, SFHSS will reimburse at GSA per-diem rate for that meal (breakfast, lunch, dinner).

Limitation on Allowance of Time and Expenses

40) Allowance for time and expense shall not exceed that which is usual and reasonable as claimed by others to that precise destination. Normally, travel and arrival the evening before is authorized when meeting, conference, or seminar agendas calendar substantive content prior to 9:30 a.m. When substantive content continues after 5:00 p.m., lodging for that night is authorized. Reasonable additional expenses, e.g., lodging and per diem for extra days either before or after a conference, will be reimbursed if such extension results in lower overall trip costs. ~~Personal travel is not allowed in conjunctions with Board travel.~~

10) Limitation on Car Rental

11) Normally, Board members shall be expected to use an airport shuttle service to metropolitan destinations unless it is more economical to rent a car, pay for parking, fuel, etc. Reimbursement of alternative modes ~~of transportation of transportation~~ will be limited to the cost of the airport shuttle service unless otherwise justified, e.g., for reasons of personal safety or scheduling conflicts. As the City is self-insured, auto insurance is not reimbursable.

Cancellation of Travel and Lodging Arrangements

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.65", Space Before: 7.8 pt

Commented [CH4]: Is this a new city rule? Why is this prohibited if it's not on the City's dime?

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Left: 0.65", Hanging: 0.25", Right: 0.52", Line spacing: Multiple 1.15 li, Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.9" + Indent at: 1.15", Tab stops: 1.15", Left

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- 12) Normally, Board members are responsible for the timely cancellation of travel and lodging arrangements ~~made on~~ made on their behalf so that no costs will be incurred by SFHSS.

Transportation Expense In Lieu Of Airfare

- 13) Airfare should be booked for economy/coach class only. Air tickets must be purchased in advance to ~~take advantage~~ take advantage of the most economical fares available. If the airline charges for checked luggage, only the cost ~~of the~~ of the first checked bag may be reimbursed.
- 14) Board members have the option of purchasing air tickets from a City-approved vendor or online directly. If Board members choose to purchase air travel online directly, they must document and demonstrate this option is the most economical by obtaining a comparative quote from a City vendor for the travel dates.

Lodging Expense

- 15) The most economical and practical accommodations available considering the purpose of the meeting, ~~and other and other~~ relevant factors will be reimbursed. For travel within the United States, the maximum reimbursement is the Federal per-diem General Services Administration ("GSA") rate for lodging. To stay within the maximum rates, conference discount rates and "government rates" should be used whenever possible.
- 16) In situations where lodging at GSA rates are not available, or business circumstances require the Board members to stay in a hotel that exceeds the federal per diem rate, conference room rate, or government rate, reimbursement ~~for lodging~~ will be ~~allowed capped at the GSA rate. The remaining amount of the room rate will be the responsibility to the Board member, if justified by business need, the most economical and practical lodging rates can be demonstrated, and pre-approval by the President of the Board is obtained.~~

Filing Claims

- 17) Claims for reimbursement of travel expenses shall be submitted to SFHSS Finance staff within 30 days following completion of the travel trip for which such expenses are claimed.
- 18) Supporting documentation including, but not limited to, pre-approval to travel, approved travel authorization forms, airfare receipt ~~receipt~~ or other itinerary, conference/meeting/workshop schedules and agendas, original itemized receipts, and proof of payment documents (including redacted credit/debit card statements), must be submitted and itemized when filing travel claims.

Cash Advances

- 19) Cash advances will not be allowed unless specifically approved by the Board.

Expenses for Spouses

- 20) Expenses of travel companions, including spouses, are not reimbursable by SFHSS.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Combining Personal Travel with Official Business

21) Board members may combine personal travel with business travel when pre-approved in writing by SFHSS executive director or designee the Authorized Travel Signatory. The City is responsible only for the official business portion of the trip. When travel on business is extended for personal reasons before, in between, and/or after official business travel, no personal expenses can be included on the Travel Expense Voucher claim form.

22) Board members must obtain a quote from an approved City vendor or a travel fare aggregator website (e.g. Expedia, Hotwire, Kayak, etc.) showing the cost of the roundtrip ticket for most economical and direct travel to/from the business destination for the dates of official business. This quote will be used for comparison and reimbursement purposes. Board members must pay for the personal portion of the airfare expense. When combining personal travel with official business travel, there is no reimbursement for lodging, meal per diem, or any other expense incurred before/in between/after the conference/ official business starts /concludes.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.94"

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: List Paragraph, Justified, Indent: Left: 0.9", Hanging: 0.25", Right: 0.65", Space Before: 8.35 pt, Line spacing: Multiple 1.15 li, Numbered + Level: 2 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.9" + Indent at: 1.15", Tab stops: 1.15", Left

Commented [CH5]: Who is this?

Commented [HL6R5]: SFHSS executive director or designee.

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic, No underline

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

Formatted: Font: Not Italic

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

APPENDIX 34

Education Resource Page

Educational resources range from online static materials, to on-line courses, to in-person events. No list is complete but a sample of resources are listed below.

Health Policy Resources:

Americas Physician Groups . www.APG.Org

Health Affairs www.healthaffairs.org

California Health Care Foundation

California Health Line

Kaiser Family Foundation

California Department of Public Health

Insurance and Benefit resources:

Employee Benefit News

Puchaser Business Group on Health

NCQA

IHA.org

- [Newsroom](#)
- [Perspectives](#)

4) [California Healthline](#)

- [Spotlight](#)
- [Daily Addition](#)
- [Innovations](#)

5) [Employee Benefit News](#)

- [Retirement](#)
- [Employer Strategies](#)
- [Regulation](#)

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Left, Indent: Left: 0"

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Font: Not Bold, Underline

Formatted: Normal, No bullets or numbering

Formatted: Font: Bold

Formatted: Normal, No bullets or numbering

1) [California Health Care Foundation](#)

- [Events](#)
- [Media](#)
- [Topics](#)
- [Projects](#)
- [Collections](#)
- [Investment](#)

2) [America's Health Insurance Plans](#)

- [Issues](#)
- [Research](#)
- [News](#)
- [Resources](#)
- [Events](#)

3) [Kaiser Family Foundation](#)

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

6) International
Foundation for Employee
Benefits Health Service
Board members are provided
with membership

- Trustee Resources
- Annual conferences
- Virtual Education and
CEBS Learning Center
- News—log into your
account to sign up for the
daily newsletter.

7) Catalyst for Payment
Reform

- The Latest
- Resource Library
- Upcoming Events
- Newsletter

8) Pacific Business Group
on Health

- Key Strategies
- Programs
- Publications

9) Integrated Healthcare
Association

10) Employee Benefits
Research Institute

Formatted: Indent: Left: 0.83", First line: 0", Right: 0.59", Space Before: 4.7 pt, Line spacing: Multiple 1.15 li, Tab stops: 1.15", Left + 1.15", Left + Not at 1.33" + 1.33"

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

203: SFHSS BOARD PERFORMANCE EVALUATION POLICY

Objectives

- 1) The Board recognizes that annual Board evaluations have become an accepted best practice in the area of Board governance. Accordingly, in keeping with the Board's desire to reflect best practices in all of its operations, the Board has adopted this Board Performance Evaluation Policy.
- 2) The objective of this policy is to set out a process by which the Board may engage in periodic self-assessment to continuously develop and improve its effectiveness as ~~agoverning a governing~~ body.

Principles

- 3) The Board performance evaluation process should include the participation of all Board members and ~~be consistent~~ be consistent with the provisions of *The Sunshine Ordinance* and *The Brown Act*, California Government Code sections 54950.
- 4) Management input into the Board's performance may be highly beneficial to the evaluation process, provided SFHSS management is given whatever level of anonymity it desires in the process.
- 5) The scope of the Board performance evaluation and any resulting actions should be limited to the ~~activities and activities~~ and activities decision-making practices of the Board and Board members. Separate policies or practices will be used to evaluate the performance of the Executive Director.

Roles & Responsibilities

- 6) The Governance Committee shall be responsible for coordinating the implementation of this policy, including the approval of any survey forms or similar instruments to be used in the evaluation process, and the making of recommendations to the Board for addressing issues arising out of the evaluation.

Board Member Surveys

- 7) In about the fourth quarter of each fiscal year, the Governance Committee shall review any survey tools to be used in the evaluation process and make modifications as appropriate. Due to cost considerations, it ~~is expected~~ is expected that the evaluation will normally be administered using a survey.
- 8) The purpose of any Board survey instrument shall be to provide Board members with a framework for reviewing the performance of the Board and for raising, in an anonymous manner if desired, any concerns or suggestions Board members may have to improve the Board's performance. Survey forms may take ~~any format~~ any format deemed appropriate by the Governance Committee but must provide an opportunity for Board members to provide written comments or suggestions.
- 9) In about the fourth quarter of each year, copies of any Board surveys to be used will be distributed to each Board member with instructions for completing and submitting the survey.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- 10) Board members are required to complete and submit the survey within 14 days of receiving it. The Governance Committee shall determine the method for distributing, submitting, and tabulating the Survey, e.g., mail, internet, etc. Any summary report of findings will display the findings in a confidential manner.

Management Input

- 11) The Executive Director shall have the option of providing input on the Board's performance from members of SFHSS management or staff using the same survey instrument used by Board members. Alternatively, the Executive Director may develop a separate survey tailored for use by management and staff and ~~shall review~~ shall review the survey with the Governance Committee. Any such surveys shall provide an opportunity for written comments and suggestions.
- 12) The Executive Director shall determine which members of SFHSS management or staff shall be invited to complete a Board evaluation survey. Such surveys shall be completed and tabulated in a manner that ensures anonymity. To that end, the Executive Director shall invite as many members of management and staff as is reasonable and appropriate.
- 13) The Executive Director shall approve the summary of management's survey results prior to the results being shared with any member of the Board.

Reporting

- 14) Board and management survey results shall be summarized by an independent party, be determined ~~by the~~ by the Governance Committee, and reviewed by the Governance Committee. Based on the results, the Governance Committee shall develop Committee recommendations for the Board's consideration.
- 15) The Governance Committee Chair shall report to the Board on the discussions, conclusions, and any recommendations of the Governance Committee.
- 16) The Board's discussions and any actions arising out of the evaluation shall be summarized in the ~~Board minutes~~ Board minutes.

Interviews

- 17) The Governance Committee may recommend to the Board that in certain years the above surveys be replaced or supplemented with personal interviews of Board members and management by an independent party to obtain more detailed or robust results.

Review

- 18) The Board shall review this policy at least once every three years.

History

- 19) The Board adopted this policy on February 22, 2007; amended it on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2021, and February 10, 2022.

204: SFHSS EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR PERFORMANCE EVALUATION POLICY

Background and Purpose

- 1) The Board believes that selecting, directing, and evaluating the SFHSS Executive Director is one of its most important responsibilities. In keeping with this responsibility, the Board has adopted this policy, which sets out an annual process to be followed in assessing the Executive Director's performance and communicating the results to the Executive Director.

Policy Guidelines

- 2) The Governance Committee shall be responsible for coordinating the Executive Director's performance evaluation process.
- 3) The Governance Committee, in consultation with the Executive Director, shall develop the ~~criteria~~[criteria to](#) be used in performing the evaluation. Quantitative criteria shall weigh 65% within the overall evaluation and qualitative criteria shall weigh 35%.

Qualitative Criteria

- 4) Qualitative criteria will generally be evaluated using a survey instrument or similar tool, to be developed by the Governance Committee and refined over time, with input from the Board as appropriate. Assessments of qualitative criteria by Board members that correspond to above or below "Satisfactory Performance" must be accompanied by examples and comments or they will not be considered. In cases where such assessments were not accompanied by examples or comments, the party responsible for administering the survey shall follow up with Board members and encourage them to provide such commentary.
- 5) All members of the Board are expected to complete the survey instruments or tools developed ~~by the~~[by the](#) Governance Committee as part of the Executive Director's evaluation.

Quantitative Criteria

- 6) Quantitative criteria shall reflect the strategic plan and shall be developed and refined over time as SFHSS develops methods for obtaining any necessary data and developing meaningful measures of performance.
- 7) To the extent possible, the Governance Committee shall obtain the necessary information or data to assess the quantitative criteria from independent sources, e.g., from the financial auditor.

Timing & Process

- 8) In the fourth quarter of each calendar year, Board members shall be provided copies of an evaluation survey addressing qualitative criteria and will have two weeks to complete and return them. Accompanying the survey will be a report from the Executive Director containing the Executive Director's assessment and any supporting information and documentation the Executive Director believes may be of value to the Board members in completing the survey.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- 9) The Chair of the Governance Committee shall work with the Executive Director and other ~~parties as~~ parties as necessary to gather and synthesize any data and information necessary to assess the objective criteria.
- 10) The Chair of the Governance Committee, with the assistance of the Board Secretary, shall ensure that all the information necessary to facilitate the evaluation of the Executive Director (quantitative and qualitative) is tabulated and summarized in a report, and will review the results with the Governance Committee. Any Board member input provided shall not be anonymous.
- 11) In a closed session, the Chair of the Governance Committee shall present to the Board a summary of the evaluation results along with the Committee's findings and recommendations for Board discussion and approval. A summary of the evaluation will be placed in the Executive Director's personnel file.
- 12) The Executive Director shall be allowed to attend any meetings of the Board or its committees at which the Executive Director's performance is to be reviewed and discussed, and the Executive Director shall have an opportunity to respond to any of the Board's findings prior to the Board completing its evaluation. Such meetings will be held in closed sessions, as provided for by applicable open meeting laws. If the Executive Director chooses not to attend the Board meeting at which the Board finalizes the Executive Director's performance evaluation, the Chair of the Governance Committee and the President of the Board shall subsequently meet with the Executive Director to review the Executive Director's evaluation.
- 13) Minor changes to the Executive Director Evaluation Survey may be made by the Governance Committee provided, however, the survey continues to reflect the subjective evaluation criteria approved by the Board. Material changes to the Survey shall be reviewed with the Board.
- 14) The Governance Committee shall generally hold a mid-year review with the Executive Director to assess progress, adjust goals and objectives if necessary, and identify potential issues or concerns. The Governance Committee shall report the results of the mid-year review to the Board along with any recommended adjustments to the evaluation criteria.

Compensation and Bonuses

- 15) The Board annually shall review the Executive Director's compensation and consider changes that may be feasible under existing City policies or programs.

Review

- 16) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

- 17) This policy was adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007, and amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

205: SFHSS MONITORING AND REPORTING POLICY

Introduction

- 1) In carrying out its responsibility to monitor and oversee the operations of the SFHSS, the Board receives numerous reports on various topics, from different parties, and with different frequencies. While some of the reports are ad hoc in nature, many are routine. The Board has adopted this policy to help ensure that the system of routine reporting is clear and systematic and will evolve over time to continue to meet Board needs.

Policy Guidelines

- 2) The Board shall be provided the routine reports including, but not limited to, those outlined in Appendix 1 of this policy with the frequency set out in Appendix 1.
- 3) Requests by Board members for additional routine reports shall require Board approval and an amendment to Appendix 1 of this policy.

Review

- 4) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

- 5) The Board adopted this policy on February 22, 2007, amended it on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

APPENDIX 1

Scheduled Board Reports

#	Report Name	Frequency of Report	Prepared By	Presented By	Description/Purpose
Governance Reports					
1	Report to Mayor	Annually	Executive Director	Executive Director	Charter Section 4.103 requires the Board to file an annual report of activities with the Mayor's Office & Clerk of the Board of Supervisors
2	Board Education Plan	Annually	Governance Committee	Chair of Governance Committee	Summarizes the Board education goals and tentative schedule/timing of selected topics
3	Board Education Report	Annually	Governance Committee	Chair of Governance Committee	Summarizes Board training and educational activities (both internal and external) and individual Board members.
4	Board Performance Report	Annually	Governance Committee	Chair of Governance Committee	Summarizes the results of the Board self-evaluation process, including follow-up actions.
5	Executive Director Evaluation Report	Annually	Governance Committee	Chair of Governance Committee	Summarizes the results of the Executive Direction evaluation process.
Investment Reports					
6	Investment Policy Compliance Report	Annually	CFO	TBD	An assessment of the extent to which the Board's investment policy statement was compiled during the year.
7	Investment Performance	Annually	CFO	TBD	Summarizes investment performance of Health Service Trust Fund in the past year
Benefits Administration and Member services Reports					
8	Member Services Review	Annually	COO	TBD	Assessment of the adequacy of health care provided for members, fee schedules, compensation paid for all services rendered, and the general affordability of administered plans
9	Demographics Report	Annually	ESA	TBD	Review of the member participation levels with the health plans
10	10-County Report	Annually	Finance	TBD	Summarizes results from a survey of the 10 largest counties in California that assessed the average contribution made by county employees' health benefit coverage
Funding and Accounting Reports					
11	Audit Report	Annually	External Auditor	External Auditor	Review of annual audited financial statements and external auditor's management letter.
12	Report of Reserves	Quarterly	CFO	CFO	Summarizes the levels of the reserves.
Operations and Risk Management Reports					
13	Service Provider Review	Annually	Executive Director	Executive Director	Assessment of the performance of key service providers, including but not limited to insurance carriers and third-party administrators, relative to pre-established performance criteria
14	Risk Management Report	Annually	Executive Director	Executive Director	Summarizes ongoing system of operational risk management

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

206: SFHSS BOARD COMMUNICATIONS POLICY

Introduction & Objectives

- 1) Effective, coordinated, and accurate communication by the Board and Board members is essential to ensuring compliance with fiduciary obligations and to achieving operational effectiveness. To help achieve this, the Board has adopted this policy to guide Board ~~member communications~~ [member communications](#). The policy is intended to:
 - a) Ensure efficient and effective communications among Board members, staff, service providers, and stakeholders;
 - b) Serve and protect the interests of plan members and beneficiaries through consistent and accurate communication; and
 - c) Maintain a reputation of professionalism and integrity.

Principles

- 2) The Board is most effective when it communicates as one body with a single voice.

Definitions

- 3) Throughout this policy, the term “communication” shall refer to all forms of communication including written, oral, or electronic communications.

Guidelines

Communication with Board Members and Staff

- 4) Board members shall communicate in a respectful, honest, and constructive manner during all Board and committee meetings, and in all interactions with staff, service providers, and the public at large.
- 5) Only the Board or a committee may request information from staff or assign work to the Executive Director.

Public Communications

- 6) Public communications on the part of the Board or SFHSS shall generally occur through a spokesperson designated by the Board or the Executive Director respectively. The designated spokesperson for the Board shall normally be the President or the Executive Director. The Board expects that the President and Executive Director shall confer to determine which of them shall act as spokesperson on a case-by-case basis.
- 7) In carrying out their duties, spokesperson(s) shall:
 - a) Confer with the Executive Director, President, the Board, or City Attorney as appropriate prior to engaging in official communications;

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Communicate only official positions of the Board and not make unilateral commitments on ~~the part~~ the part of the Board; and
 - c) Report back to the Board on any communications undertaken in their capacity as a spokesperson.
- 8) Board members who are not designated spokespersons, and who nevertheless wish to communicate publicly on matters relating to the SFHSS, shall take all reasonable steps to ensure that they communicate the policies, positions, and deliberations of the Board clearly and accurately.
- 9) As a courtesy, Board members are encouraged to appraise the President and the Executive Director of any public communications they may have concerning the SFHSS. At a minimum, however, Board members shall inform the Executive Director and the President or Vice-President of any communication they engage in that might reasonably be expected to result in media exposure for the SFHSS.
- 10) Board members are strongly advised to review in advance with the President and the Executive Director any communications they intend to make or release publicly, and to make any modifications recommended by them regarding the accuracy of such communications.
- 11) If any Board member publicly communicates a personal opinion that is inconsistent with a policy or decision of the Board, they shall disclose to their audience that they are expressing a personal opinion and that such opinion does not reflect the policies or decisions of the Board.
- 12) If a Board member votes with the losing side on an issue, the member is expected to nevertheless respect and support the decision of the majority. Reconsideration of Board actions may occur consistent with the Board Operations Policy. The Board recognizes that some Board members must function in capacities other than that of a Board member and, as such, may believe they must express publicly their disagreement with a decision of the Board. In such instances, the Board expects that they shall do so in an open, constructive, and professional manner.

Communication with Members and Beneficiaries

- 13) The Board does not intend to unduly restrain communications by Board members with plan members and beneficiaries. The Board also recognizes that Board members are generally not qualified to communicate technical details concerning the SFHSS and its numerous benefit plans and that providing inaccurate or incomplete information to members may cause confusion or harm.
- Accordingly, Board members shall exercise judgment and discretion whenever communicating with plan members and beneficiaries, and shall be aware of and comply with the following guidelines to protect the SFHSS, Board members, and, most importantly, plan members and beneficiaries:
- a) Board members may communicate general information or simple, factual, information to members and beneficiaries only where there is no risk of communicating inaccurate or conflicting information;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Board members may not provide plan members or beneficiaries with education, advice, or technical information pertaining to the benefit provisions of SFHSS. Instead, Board members should refer such members or beneficiaries to the SFHSS website, the SFHSS Member Services Department, or the Executive Director, as appropriate;
- c) Board members who, in their capacity as members of the Board, wish to meet with groups [of plan or plan](#) members, beneficiaries, or stakeholders, for the purposes of conducting a meeting, presentation, or similar exchange shall exercise discretion and may:
 - i. Dates Inform the Executive Director and, when possible, arrange for an SFHSS staff person to be present at the meeting to help ensure all communications accurately reflect the policies, positions, or benefit provisions of SFHSS; or
 - ii. Provide the Executive Director copies of the written materials the Board member intends to distribute at the meeting.

External Communications – Service Providers

- 14) Board members agree to abide by the black-out period provisions pertaining to service providers as specified in the Service Provider Selection Policy.
- 15) Individual Board members shall not direct or otherwise assign work to service providers. Instead, all direction or requests to service providers shall occur at a Board, or committee meeting, or be channeled through the Executive Director. Furthermore, Board members shall not direct plan members to contact service providers directly. They should be directed to contact SFHSS staff.

Review

- 16) This policy shall be reviewed at least every three years.

History

- 17) This policy was adopted by the Board on February 22, 2007, and amended on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

207: SFHSS SERVICE PROVIDER AND VENDOR SELECTION POLICY

Purpose

- 1) The Service Provider/Vendor Selection Policy is intended to establish general guidelines by which service providers will be selected, evaluated, or terminated by SFHSS.

Roles and Responsibilities

- 2) The role of the Board with respect to the selection of service providers is to:
 - a) Establish appropriate policies to help ensure prudent and sound selection decisions are made including, but not limited to, providing input to management about broad policy directions or specific goals and guidelines, prior to the drafting of a Request for Proposals ("RFP");
 - b) Monitor compliance with such policies;
 - c) Approve the award of a contract with the following primary service providers:
 - i. Actuary;
 - ii. Plan Administrators;
 - iii. Hearing officers or firms providing the services of hearing officers;
 - iv. Third-party administrators retained for services in connection with non-~~charter benefits~~[charter benefits](#) and with contract values in excess of \$500,000 annually;
 - v. Information technology consultants retained for services with contract values in excess of \$500,000;
 - vi. Medical Director; and
 - vii. Other service providers, as may be determined by the Board.
- 3) The Executive Director shall be responsible for selecting service providers/vendors other than the above primary service providers, consistent with the operating budget and other applicable policies of the Board and the City and County of San Francisco, and for keeping the Board apprised of such appointments when material.
- 4) Notwithstanding paragraph 3 above, if the Executive Director determines that specific circumstances suggest that it would be prudent for the Board to approve the award of a contract to a particular service provider that is not a primary service provider, the Executive Director may elect to submit a selected service provider to the Board for its approval.
- 5) The Executive Director and department personnel shall initiate and conduct the solicitation for contracts and shall apprise the SFHSS Board about the selection process.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- 6) It is recognized and understood that the following services are provided or coordinated by various departments within the City:
- a) Financial and operational audit services;
 - b) Custody services;
 - c) Legal services;
 - d) Investment management and advisory services; and
 - e) Information technology services.
- 7) The Executive Director shall be responsible for ensuring that all necessary search and due diligence activities are carried out, with assistance from external advisors or experts as required.

The Search Process

General Guidelines

- 8) The selection of all service providers shall be made in the best interests of SFHSS members and beneficiaries in keeping with the fiduciary responsibilities of the Board and staff and will be consistent with the SFHSS and City policies.
- 9) The Board and the Executive Director shall make a good faith effort to retain and utilize the services of disadvantaged business enterprises, on a primary or sub-contract basis, when those services or products are provided consistent with the fiduciary responsibilities of the Board and staff.

Black-Out Periods

- 10) The Board shall initiate a "black-out period" when notified that SFHSS will initiate a search process resulting in the release of an [Request For Proposal \(RFP\)](#), Request for Qualifications ("RFQ"), other formal solicitations for the selection of a primary service provider, or the expansion of a relationship with an existing primary service provider.
- 11) Black-out periods will be instituted at a Board or committee meeting. Written notification will be issued to all Board members that are not present at said meeting. A black-out period may also be instituted between Board meetings at the discretion of a Board acting as a committee of the whole. The Executive Director shall provide written notification to all Board members of all black-out periods instituted between Board or committee meetings as soon as possible. Board members shall comply with the black-out period restrictions upon receipt of the Executive Director's notification.
- 12) The initiation of a black-out period, and the types of providers to which it applies, will be specified in the minutes of the Board meeting at which it was approved or ratified by the Board. Where it is not possible to specifically define the types of service providers to which a black-out period applies, Board members shall make good faith efforts to comply with the intent of the black-out period provisions by

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

taking all reasonable efforts to determine if service providers they may communicate with are potential candidates in an SFHSS process.

- 13) During black-out periods, Board members shall not communicate with service providers who may provide the types of services for which the solicitation is being issued, except during [Boarder-Board or](#) committee meetings. Board members who need to communicate with such service providers for reasons unrelated to SFHSS business agree to disclose such needs in writing to the Executive Director and the Board prior to undertaking such communications. Disclosure to the Board shall be made at a meeting of the Board. If time does not permit timely disclosure to the Board, the Board member shall then provide written disclosure of the intended communication to the President, or the Vice President if the Board member in question is the President.
- 14) During black-out periods, service providers participating in or considering participating in an SFHSS search process shall not communicate with Board members except during Board or committee meetings. This requirement shall be included in all RFPs and RFQs issued by SFHSS. Any service provider found to violate the black-out provision may be subject to disqualification from the search process by the Board.
- 15) Board members found to have knowingly violated the black-out provisions may be subject to any penalties or other actions of the Board as set out in the SFHSS Statement of Incompatible Activities or the Code of Conduct.
- 16) For black-out period provisions, communications include telephone conversations, letters, and e-mail.
- 17) A black-out period will cease when a successful bidder has been selected to a contract or agreement with SFHSS, enters signs into a contractual arrangement with HSS or the City and County of San Francisco, or the search process is otherwise ended by the Board.

Contracts

- 18) The Executive Director shall negotiate and execute all agreements approved in connection with service providers. In negotiating contracts or contract renewals, the Executive Director may seek the assistance of Board members as appropriate.
- 19) All contracts and similar arrangements for the engagement of service providers shall comply with applicable laws and regulations.
- 20) Annually, the Executive Director shall provide the Board a two-year budget which provides details on the types of services that SFHSS will be issuing solicitations for during that time period. The notice of the "black-out" will serve as a notification that SFHSS has created an RFP or RFQ. The Board shall approve the award of the contract.

Monitoring and Reporting

- 21) All service providers shall be subject to regular monitoring of performance and expenditures and periodic reviews, as appropriate, throughout the term of their contract. Criteria for review may

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

include performance, staff satisfaction, the competitiveness of fees, quality of reporting, the accuracy of assumptions and forecasts, and adherence to budget.

- 22) The Executive Director shall report regularly to the Board on all monitoring efforts involving service providers, identifying any material issues or actions taken in a timely fashion.
- 23) All monitoring and reporting provisions contained in this policy serve as minimum requirements. If more stringent requirements are established within other policies of SFHSS, such requirements will prevail.
- 24) The Executive Director shall report to the Board any material failures by named service providers to comply with the terms of their contract.

Review

- 25) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

- 26) The Board adopted this policy on February 22, 2007, and amended it on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022.

208: SFHSS STRATEGIC PLANNING POLICY

Introduction

- 1) Like every complex organization, SFHSS continually faces new challenges and opportunities and has limited resources with which to address them. Organizational success requires that SFHSS have an effective planning process to set SFHSS' strategic direction, identify specific business priorities, effectively allocate resources to such priorities, and plan for their successful completion. The Board has established this Strategic Planning Policy to provide guidance to the SFHSS's planning process.

Objectives

- 2) The objectives of the Strategic Planning Policy are to:
 - a) Ensure SFHSS actively and systematically plans for the future needs of the SFHSS; and
 - b) Facilitate consensus by the Board and the Executive Director on the direction, needs, and priorities of the SFHSS.

Principles

- 3) An effective planning process should strike an appropriate balance between ensuring a systematic approach to planning, encouraging creativity in identifying business issues ~~andsolutionsand~~ [solutions](#), and ensuring sufficient flexibility to respond to changing circumstances.

Policy Guidelines

Roles and Responsibilities

- 4) The Executive Director shall be responsible for:
 - a) Identifying risks, opportunities, and needs of the SFHSS;
 - b) Identifying and prioritizing business initiatives; and
 - c) Recommending a Strategic Plan to the Board for its consideration.
- 5) The Board shall be responsible for playing a policy and oversight role in the planning process which will include:
 - a) Approving the Strategic Planning Policy and any amendments thereto;
 - b) Providing the Executive Director with input into the broad direction of the SFHSS and possible initiatives to be included in the Strategic Plan;
 - c) Approving the Strategic Plan and ensuring adequate resources are in place ~~tosuccessfully~~ [to successfully](#) implement it; and
 - d) Monitoring the implementation of the Strategic Plan.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

The Annual Planning Process

- 6) In approximately the fourth quarter of each calendar year, the Executive Director shall present and discuss the following issues with the Board:
- a) The status of the current year's Strategic Plan which can be in the form of the draft annual report;
 - b) Current business needs, risks, or opportunities of the SFHSS; and
 - c) A prioritized list of proposed business initiatives with supporting rationale.
- 7) Based on the above review and discussions, the Executive Director with input from senior staff shall prepare a draft Strategic Plan. The Executive Director shall have discretion in determining the most effective or appropriate format for the Strategic Plan, however, it is expected that the plan will generally include the following components:
- a) The SFHSS mission statement including any necessary detail or elaboration;
 - b) A discussion of current business needs, risks, and opportunities;
 - c) Proposed business initiatives accompanied by rationale and appropriate analysis, ~~data, and data, and~~ parameters including for example:
 - i. Expected outcomes of each initiative;
 - ii. Timelines for completion;
 - iii. Assignment of responsibilities for implementation;
 - iv. Resource implications;
 - v. Risk analysis; and
 - vi. Criteria for assessing the success of the initiative.
- 8) In the first quarter of each year, the Executive Director shall present the draft Strategic Plan ~~to the~~ to the Board for its consideration and approval.
- 9) Should the Executive Director determine that changing circumstances will not allow the Executive Director to meet a particular parameter associated with a Strategic Plan initiative, the Board shall be informed in a timely manner.

Review of Strategic Plan Status

- 9)10) The Executive Director shall review the status of each initiative in the Strategic Plan mid-year.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Strategic Session

~~40~~¹¹) As a separate but complementary element of the SFHSS's strategic planning process, the Board shall strive to organize at least one strategic session annually to engage in informal strategic discussions and related education or information-sharing. The focus of such sessions may vary each year but should be a forward-looking attempt to identify and understand ~~trends or~~ trends or issues that may affect the future of health care. The session should allow for more informal interaction among board members, senior staff, and potentially service providers or stakeholders. The strategic session may, but need not, result in specific initiatives for ~~inclusion in~~ inclusion in the strategic plan.

Review

~~41~~¹²) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

~~42~~¹³) The Board adopted this policy on February 22, 2007, and amended it on April 9, 2015, February 14, 2019, and February 10, 2022

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

209: SFHSS TRUST FUND INVESTMENT POLICY

Background and Purposes

1) The SFHSS was established through a City Charter amendment in 1937. (Charter section A8.420.) Charter Section 12.203 established the Health Service System Fund ("SFHSS Trust Fund") and provides:

- a) The Health Service System fund shall be a trust fund administered by the ~~Health Service~~ [Health Service](#) Board in accordance with the provisions of this Charter solely for the benefit of the active and retired members of the Health Service System and the covered dependents. The City and County, School District, and Community College District shall each contribute to the Health Service System Fund ~~amounts sufficient~~ [amounts sufficient](#) to efficiently administer the Health Service System.

The SFHSS Trust Fund was established to facilitate the contributions and disbursements of the System, while also providing a funding source to ensure payments could be made if disbursements exceeded contributions for a period of time. See also Charter section A8.429, which provides that:

- b) The health service board shall determine and certify to the controller the amount to be paid monthly by the members of the system to the health service system fund for the purposes of the system hereby created. The controller shall deduct said sums from the compensation of the members and shall deposit the same with the treasurer of the City and County to the credit of the health service system fund. Such deductions shall not be deemed to be a reduction of compensation under any provision of this Charter.
- c) The health service board shall have control of the administration and investment of the health service system fund, provided that all investments shall be of the character legal for insurance companies in California. Disbursements from the fund shall be made only upon audit by the controller and the controller shall have and exercise the accounting and auditing powers over the health service system fund which are vested in him by this Charter with respect to all other municipal boards, officers, and commissions

The purpose of this Investment Policy Statement is to set forth the objectives ~~and constraints and~~ [constraints](#) on the Fund and to establish appropriate guidelines and options for investing Fund assets. This statement is intended to incorporate sufficient flexibility to accommodate current and future economic and market conditions, as well as any changes in applicable statutory and ~~regulatory requirements~~ [regulatory requirements](#).

Definitions

2) Please use the following definitions.

- a) Recordkeeper: The term "Recordkeeper" shall mean the individual, entity, or organization responsible for maintaining and updating the information regarding the Fund balance, reserves, and other duties necessary to maintain the proper accounting of the Fund.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Custodian: The term "Custodian" shall mean the custodian bank which holds the ~~assetsof~~ assets of the Fund.
- c) Investment Advisor: The term "Investment Advisor" shall mean a registered investment advisor who the Board may, but is not required to, retain to provide advice or other assistance to the Board with respect to the Fund investments and administration.

Statement of Investment Goals and Objectives

- 3) The purchase and administration of health and other benefits necessitate significant cash inflows and outflows in the Fund. Therefore, the primary objective of the Fund is to act as a temporary repository of assets before such assets are disbursed. The Fund's investment objectives include the following:
 - a) Safety: To maintain the safety of the principal and ensure that investment of the Fund assets are undertaken in a manner that seeks to preserve capital while complying with relevant statutory requirements;
 - b) Liquidity: To maintain sufficient liquidity to enable HSS to meet all obligations when due;
 - c) Cost Control: To control costs of administering the Fund and managing Fund Assets while assuring sufficient flexibility to meet future needs; and
 - d) Return on Investment: To enable the Fund to maximize return within reasonable and prudent levels of risk consistent with investment objectives with low-risk assets.

Fiduciary Standards

- 4) The Board is the fiduciary for the SFHSS Trust Fund and is charged with governing the Fund. As Trustees of the Fund, Board members are fiduciaries. As fiduciaries, the Board members must comply with applicable fiduciary standards including, but not limited to, the prudent person standard set forth in California Constitution Article 16, Section 17(c); the California Uniform Prudent Investor Act ("UPIA"); and California Government Code Section 53600.3.

In addition, the SFHSS Board Governance Manual requires that the Board shall be responsible for approval and subsequent review of a written policy statement, ensuring responsible management thereof, compliance with the policy, and ongoing review of investment performance.

Use of Investment Advisor and Other Professionals

- 5) The Board may retain a registered investment advisor ("Investment Advisor") to provide ~~adviceand-~~ advice and other assistance to the Board to help it fulfill its obligations with respect to the Fund investments and administration. The Investment Advisor's services and the fees charged for those services must be set out in a written agreement with the Board under which the Investment Advisor acknowledges that it is a co-fiduciary with respect to the SFHSS Trust Fund.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

6) **Allocation of Responsibilities**

a) **Board's Responsibilities:** As set forth in Charter section A8.429, the Board "shall have control of the administration ~~and investment and investment~~ of the health service system fund, provided that all investments shall be of the character legal for insurance companies in California." (Charter Section A8.429; see also California Insurance Code sections 1170-1202 and Government Code sections 53600 et seq.) In performing this function, the Board shall:

- i. Prepare and maintain a written investment policy statement (e.g., this Statement), review the statement periodically, and make changes to such statement, as appropriate from time to time;
- ii. Designate certain investments that may be made under the SFHSS Trust Fund;
- iii. Establish and implement a disciplined process for selecting, monitoring, and retaining or terminating investments;
- iv. Take appropriate action if investment objectives are not met or investment policies or guidelines are not followed.

The Board shall also:

- v. Select and monitor the performance and fees of the Investment Advisor, if retained, a Recordkeeper and other providers for the SFHSS Trust Fund as it deems appropriate; and
- vi. Review all agreements between the SFHSS Trust Fund and service providers to ensure adherence to statutory requirements.

b) **Controller Responsibilities:** The Controller shall have the responsibilities set out by law, which shall include:

- i. Deducting the requisite amounts, as determined by the Board, from the members' compensation;
- ii. Depositing such amounts with the Treasurer; and
- iii. Exercising accounting and auditing powers over the SFHSS Trust Fund.

c) **Custodian's Responsibilities:** The Custodian is responsible for safekeeping the SFHSS Trust Fund's assets. The duties and responsibilities of the Custodian include:

- i. Maintaining possession of the SFHSS Trust Fund assets (directly or through a sub-custodian);
- ii. Collecting all income and dividends owed to the SFHSS Trust Fund;
- iii. Settling all transactions (buy-sell orders);

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- iv. Valuing the SFHSS Trust Fund's holdings; and
 - v. Providing monthly reports that detail transactions, cash flows, securities held, their current value, and other portfolio statistics in accordance with the California Government Code.
- d) **Investment Advisor's Responsibilities:** The Investment Advisor, if retained shall provide investment advice to the Board concerning the investment of Fund assets consistent with the investment objectives, policies, and constraints included in the Investment Policy Statement, as amended from time to time. The investment Advisor's responsibilities include:
- i. Assisting in the creation, review, and revision of a written investment policy statement;
 - ii. Assisting in the establishment and implementation of a disciplined process for ~~selecting, monitoring~~[selecting, monitoring](#), and retaining or terminating investments;
 - iii. Providing independent and unbiased information;
 - iv. Assisting in investment option mapping where deemed appropriate;
 - v. Assisting in the control of investment expenses, including helping to negotiate investment, record keeper, and other service provider fees;
 - vi. Reporting annual investment performance results to enable the Board to evaluate investment performance in light of existing goals and objectives;
 - vii. Performing such other services for the SFHSS Trust Fund as agreed to by the Board and the Investment Advisor from time to time.
- e) **Treasurer's Responsibilities:** The Treasurer shall be responsible for those funds required for daily cash flow and all additional funds delegated to the Treasurer for investment that exceeds the amounts for daily cash flows and reserves.

Investment Options

- 7) The Board, with the assistance of the Investment Advisor, if retained, shall consider several factors when determining the most prudent course of investing the SFHSS Trust Fund's assets in excess of the amount needed for daily cash flow and reserves, including:
- a) The goals and constraints of the SFHSS Trust Fund (see Section 3.0 Statement of Objectives above);
 - b) The investment's track record;
 - c) The performance as compared to an appropriate benchmark;
 - d) The investment risk;

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- e) The vestment strategy, any changes investment strategy, and adherence to stated strategy over time;
- f) The fees and expenses associated with the investment;
- g) Qualitative characteristics, including, but not limited to, management strategy, the strategy of assets under management, turnover, and recent portfolio activity in view of the current market conditions; and
- h) Qualitative characteristics, including, but not limited to, management strategy, the strategy of assets under management, turnover, and recent portfolio activity in view of the current market conditions; and
- i) Such other information as the Board and Investment Advisor deems appropriate. In selecting investment options for the SFHSS Trust Fund, the Board shall comply with California Government Code, Section 53600, and may not invest in any investments not specifically authorized by California Code, Section 53600. In general, Section 54600 limits local agency investment funds to high-quality, fixed-income securities with maturities of less than five years. Securities with a maturity of greater than five years require approval by the Board of Supervisors. For example, permitted securities include:
 - i. Obligations of the United States Government ("Treasuries"), federal agencies, municipalities, and negotiable Certificates of Deposits ("CD") are allowed with a maximum maturity of five years;
 - ii. Medium-term corporate bonds ("A" or better) and asset-backed securities with a maximum maturity of five years;
 - iii. Repurchase agreements with a maximum maturity of one year;
 - iv. Commercial paper with a maximum maturity of 280 days;
 - v. Bankers' acceptance notes with a maximum maturity of 180 days. Prohibited securities include, but are not limited to, Commercial Mortgage-Backed Securities, high yield bonds, convertibles, non-United States denominated investment-grade bonds, emerging market debt, equities, commodities, real estate, hedge funds, and private equity. Additional guidelines on permissible and prohibited investments are set forth in Government Code sections 536001 to 53610 attached hereto.
- j) The following options currently satisfy the above factors:
 - i. Investment assets in the City of San Francisco's Treasury Pool (which complies with California Government Code 53600). Investment in the City and County of San Francisco's Treasury Pool also meets Section 16 of the Health Service Board's Governance Manual (reference above). If adopted, the Board shall receive quarterly written updates on the performance of the Treasury Pool and annual updates from

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Treasurer and Tax Collector staff;

- ii. Investing assets with external investment managers to run a portfolio that will comply with the California Government Code; or
- iii. Making direct purchase of investment assets. Investment options #2 and #3 above are limited to investing the funds balance less: (i) obligations (funds required for daily cash flow); and (ii) reserves.

Monitoring of Investments

- 8) The Board shall decide the most appropriate options for investment of the SFHSS Trust Fund, and shall monitor the investment options on an ongoing quarterly basis. No less than every three years the Board shall review the SFHSS Trust Funds' performance in detail. Material changes in market conditions or changes to the investment team managing the Fund assets or the team's strategy would require a timelier review.

Review

- 9) The Board shall review this Investment Policy Statement periodically, but not less than every three years, to determine whether the investment objectives are still relevant. It is not expected that this Statement will change frequently. In particular, short-term changes in the financial markets should not require adjustments to this Investment Policy Statement.
- 10) This Investment Policy Statement acknowledges that Section 53600 of the Government Code is more restrictive than the California Insurance Code, however, both must be considered when investing Fund assets.
- 11) The City and County of San Francisco's Treasury Pool's investment priorities of safety, liquidity, and return should align with the objectives of the SFHSS Trust Fund. The Treasury Pool's Investment Policy is reviewed and monitored by the Treasury Oversight Committee pursuant to City and County Administrative Code Section 10.80-1.

Effective Date

- ~~12)~~ The policy is effective immediately upon Board approval. This Investment Policy Statement shall guide the Board and the Investment Advisor, if retained, shall remain in effect until amended by the Board. Nothing contained in this Statement shall provide to any participant or beneficiary the right to challenge the terms of this Investment Policy Statement. Subject to relevant statutory requirements, the Board shall have full discretion as to how it selects and monitors the investments and the application of this Investment Policy Statement to any specific situation.

Review

- 1) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

Policy History

210: SFHSS CONTINGENCY RESERVE POLICY

Policy Objectives

- 1) It is prudent for an administrator of a self-funded and flex-funded benefit programs to establish a Contingency Reserve, otherwise known as excess loss reserve, to absorb financial strain brought about by adverse claims experience. A Contingency Reserve is funding reserve to cover the risk of claims in excess of the expected claims target used in the underwriting rate setting process.
- 2) Independent of the ability of a self-funded benefit plan to access external dollars to fund adverse experiences, it is prudent and sound to consider implementing a Contingency Reserve. It allows the Plan Sponsor to establish a budget based on a predetermined funding level and maintain that structure regardless of claims experience level.
- 3) Establishment of the Contingency Reserve serves the same purpose as external stop loss insurance, and therefore external stop loss insurance will not be purchased except where required by the health plan.

Contingency Reserve Policy

- 1) This policy standardizes the SFHSS **Contingency Reserve** setting methodology for self-funded health plans. The purpose of the Contingency Reserve is to establish reserve funds that are available in the event claims are in excess of target costs. The Contingency Reserve policy is specific to SFHSS' flex and self-funded medical and prescription drug plans:
 - a) Flex-Funded Medical/Rx HMO Plans (non-capitated costs) and
 - b) Self-Funded PPO Medical/Rx PPO Plan(s)

The methods specified in this document will be applied for Contingency Reserve estimation as of at the end of each fiscal year.

Definitions

- 2) **Contingency Reserve:** Any actuarial estimate is based upon the information available at a point in time and is subject to unforeseen and random events. At any point in time, estimated reserves may be higher or lower than required. Future funding projections will generate revenue that may be higher or lower than actual experience. Multiple factors impact the eventual experience of the self-funded and flex funded health plans. The range of plausible results around the best estimate rates would consider:
 - a) Random variation from expected claims;
 - b) Credibility of the experience;
 - c) Fluctuations in large claims experience;
 - d) Vendor processing stability;

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- e) Changes in COBRA enrollment; and
- f) Catastrophic events and whether to make allowance or not.

The Contingency Reserve is intended to immunize against such adverse experience. *Large Claims Reserve*: a subset of the Contingency Reserve. The Contingency Reserve accounts for all claims over the projected claims target level. The Large Claims Reserve accounts for all large claims over a certain threshold. Since all large claims over the threshold are also over the projected claims target level, they are already being accounted for in the Contingency Reserve.

Contingency Reserve Methodology

- 3) To establish the Contingency Reserve(s), linear regression is used, specifically:
- a) The City and County of San Francisco's third-party administrator(s) provide either 36 or 48 months of claim data which the actuarial consultant firm summarizes by incurred and paid period. This data is separate for medical/prescription drugs for each plan.
 - b) These amounts are converted to a per employee per month ("PEPM") basis and linear regression is performed on the monthly PEPM values.
 - c) The regression data is used to determine the predicted monthly values and the corresponding monthly variances, as well as the predicted annual claims per employee per year ("PEPY") and corresponding variance PEPY.
 - d) Using the predicted claims PEPY and variance PEPY, the expected value is calculated at a particular level of confidence. This is done by using the normal distribution. For our analysis, we use three levels of potential excess cost; confidence levels of 95%, 97%, and 99%.
 - e) The gross Contingency Reserve is the difference between the cost at a particular confidence level and the projected PEPY costs times the anticipated enrollment, plus a margin between 0% and 10%.
 - f) The actuarial consultant firm presents the analysis at the three levels of confidence (95%, 97%, and 99%) to the ~~HS~~ Board for final determination of the approved contingency reserve amount for each plan.

Review

- 4) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

Policy History

- 5) The Board adopted this policy on March 12, 2008, and amended it on March 14, 2013, February 13, 2014, February 10, 2022, January 12, 2023, and December 12, 2024.

211: SFHSS SELF-FUNDED PLANS' RATE STABILIZATION POLICY

Policy Objectives

- 1) The objective of a stabilization reserve is to spread any underwriting surpluses or shortfalls into the future year's premium calculation in an even-handed manner such that the Employers and membership are not subject to volatile year-over-year changes in premium.

Rate Stabilization Policy

- 2) This policy standardizes the methodology that will be used to incorporate the impact of prior year revenue surpluses and shortfalls against projected expense in future self-funded plans' premium rate requirements. The purpose of a Stabilization Policy is to even out the ~~premium fluctuations~~ premium fluctuations year- to-year.
- 3) The SFHSS flex and self-funded health plans covered by this policy include:
 - a) Flex-Funded/Self-Funded HMO Plan(s)
 - b) Self-Funded PPO Plan
 - c) Self-Funded Dental PPO (for Actives only)
- 4) As described in the Methodology section below, a rolling three-year period will be used to reflect prior year revenue surpluses and shortfalls against projected expense in the flex or self-funded plan.
- 5) The methods specified in this document will be applied annually during the rate-setting ~~process to~~ process to plan year premium rates using the revenue excess or shortfall experienced during the prior plan years.
- 6) The actuarial consultant firm presents the recommendation and supporting analysis to the Board for approval of the stabilization reserve calculation each year during the rate-setting process.

Definitions

- 7) Contingency Reserve: Any actuarial estimate is based upon the information available at a ~~point in~~ point in time and is subject to unforeseen and random events. At any point in time, estimated reserves may be higher or lower than required. Future funding projections will generate revenue that may be higher or lower than actual experience.
- 8) Multiple factors impact the eventual experience of the self-funded health plans. The range of plausible results around the best estimate rates would consider:
 - a) Random variation from expected claims;
 - b) Credibility of the experience;
 - c) Fluctuations in large claims experience;

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- d) Vendor processing stability;
- e) Changes in COBRA enrollment; and
- f) Catastrophic events and whether to make allowance or not.

Methodology

9) The flex or self-funded plans' premium rates for plan year X will consist of the following five components:

- a) Estimated incurred claims cost for plan year X
- b) Estimated cost of administering the claims over plan year X
- c) Estimated cost of any fixed component (e.g. capitation to medical groups or pooling charges) over plan year X
- d) Estimated change in the Contingency Reserve over plan year X
- e) Factor reflecting revenue surplus or shortfall experience from prior plan year ~~years~~ administrative-administrative costs, and, if applicable, any other fixed components) are common to the in-force premium rates. Unlike the change in IBNR (Incurred but not reported), which is implicitly included in the projection of incurred claims, the Contingency Reserve is added as a component of each plan's targeted year-end funding level. The anticipated change in the Contingency Reserve is factored into the rate requirements as the fourth component of the self-funded plans' premium rates.

The first three components of the self-funded plans' premium rates (incurred claims, administrative costs, and, if applicable, any other fixed components) are common to the in-force premium rates. Unlike the change in Incurred But Not Reported ("IBNR") claims, which are implicitly included in the projection of incurred claims, the Contingency Reserve is added as a component of each plan's targeted year-end funding level. The anticipated change in the Contingency Reserve is factored into the rate requirements as the fourth component of the self-funded plans' premium rates.

The fifth component of flex or self-funded plans' premium rates "Factor reflecting revenue excess or shortfall experience from prior plan years", is the focus of this policy.

The methodology used to determine the "Factor reflecting revenue excess or shortfall experience from prior plan years" varies by plan. The revenue excess or shortfall in any plan year will be determined by comparing the following two amounts:

- a) Expected Revenue = Expected incurred claims + Expected administration costs + Expected fixed component(s) (if applicable) + Expected change in Contingency Reserve. The expected revenue amount will be based on the per capita estimates for the plan year aggregated using the actual plan year enrollment.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

- b) Actual Revenue = Actual incurred claims + Actual administration costs + Actual fixed component(s) (if applicable) + Actual change in Contingency Reserve

Example:

The self-insured PPO

For plan year X, this component equates to one-third of the cumulative difference between prior years' revenue and expense less prior years' release of this amount.

Revenue excess in year X-2 = \$90

Premium rates for plan year X includes an offset of \$30, i.e. one-third of \$90, thus leaving ~~a balance~~ a balance of \$60

Revenue excess in year X-1 = \$90

Premium rates for plan year X+1 includes an offset of \$50, i.e. one-third of the accumulation of \$150 (($\$90 - \30) + $\$90 = \150), thus leaving a balance of \$100

Revenue shortfall in year X = -\$70

Premium rates for plan year X+2 includes an offset of \$10, i.e. one-third of the accumulation of \$30 (($\$90 - \30) + ($\$90 - \50) - $\$70 = \30), thus leaving a balance of \$20

Allocation of cumulative revenue surplus or shortfall across categories of membership. To develop the premium rate factor, allocation of the cumulative revenue surplus or shortfall across categories of membership (employees/non-Medicare retirees) is proportional and is based on the aggregate of the projected claims costs, administration costs, fixed component(s) costs (if applicable), and Contingency Reserve increase/decrease over the plan year in question.

An illustration is provided below:

The projected claims costs, administration costs, fixed component(s) costs (if applicable), and Contingency Reserve increase/decrease over the plan year for the self-funded PPO in year X are expected to be \$60 million and this is split across membership categories as follows:

Employees: \$20 million

Non-Medicare Retirees: \$10 million

There is also a cumulative revenue excess amount of \$6 million to be allocated across membership categories, the allocation in the calculation of premiums for plan year X would be as follows:

Employees: \$4 million

Non-Medicare Retirees: \$2 million

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

Review

10) The Board shall review this policy and methodology at least every three years.

Policy History

~~14)~~ The Board adopted this policy on March 12, 2008, ~~amended~~, and amended it on March 14, 2013, February 13, 11) 2014, January 8, 2015, and February 10, 2022.

12) This policy has been applied to City Plan (now referred to as the self-funded PPO) annually since 2007.

Formatted: List Paragraph, Indent: Hanging: 0.25", Space Before: 0 pt, Numbered + Level: 1 + Numbering Style: 1, 2, 3, ... + Start at: 1 + Alignment: Left + Aligned at: 0.83" + Indent at: 1.08", Tab stops: 1.08",

212: SFHSS IBNR Reserve Policy and Methodology

Policy Objectives

- 1) There is a lag between the time period when a medical service is rendered to the time that a claim is submitted and fully settled in payment. It is prudent for a flex or self-funded plan to set aside funds for IBNR reserves. An IBNR reserve, otherwise known as an operating reserve, is an estimate of the unpaid claims liability for run-out claims. To accurately project the self-funded plan's outstanding claims liability, the Board actuary will estimate the cost of the claims rendered but not paid based on experience.

IBNR Reserve Policy

- 2) This policy standardizes the **IBNR Reserve** setting methodology for the SFHSS self-funded plans. The IBNR Reserve policy is specific to the self-funded plans for which SFHSS maintains reserves, i.e., the following plans:
 - a) Flex-Funded HMO Plans (non-capitated costs)
 - b) Self-Funded PPO Plan
 - c) Self-Funded Dental PPO Plan (for Actives only)
- 3) The methods specified in this document will be applied for IBNR Reserve estimation as of June 30th of each year at the end of each fiscal year.

Definitions

- 4) Please use the following definitions.
 - a) **IBNR Reserve:** Reserve(s) calculated to pay for the outstanding liability of estimated run-out claim costs that have been incurred before a given date but have not paid as of the given date.
 - b) **Developmental Method:** The method by which the IBNR liability is estimated based on claim run-out patterns which are assumed to remain stable over time.
 - c) **Projection Method:** The IBNR liability estimate produced by the Developmental Method is adjusted for months where data is considered non-credible using the Projection Method based on the change in costs per exposure unit over time. The IBNR liability is further adjusted to reflect actuarial assumptions related to a number of factors/contingencies which could impact reserve adequacy. Such factors/contingencies ~~include~~ include change in claim payment cycles, plan design, insurance carriers, large dollar claims, emerging claim trends, provider contract changes, seasonality, and other factors.

IBNR Reserve Methodology

- 5) The reserves at the end of each plan year will equate to the sum of the estimated future cost of IBNR claims as that date of the estimated cost of administering these claims.

**SAN FRANCISCO
HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM**
Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

The IBNR reserves will be based on the historical claims experience of each plan. Actuarial analysis of this experience will be completed to develop factors that are applied to paid claims data to estimate the potential run-out of the claims post-fiscal year-end. Where plan-specific claims data is deemed less than fully credible, additional normative claims data can be utilized to supplement the analysis performed. The Board's actuarial consultant firm applies the Developmental Method and Projection Method to set the IBNR reserves.

The estimated cost of administering the run-out claims will reflect the terms and conditions of the plan administrator responsible for setting the relevant plan's claims. The Actuarial consultant firm presents IBNR Reserve recommendations and supporting analysis to the Board for approval.

Review

- 6) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

History

- 7) The Board adopted this policy on March 12, 2008, and amended it on March 14, 2013, February 13, 2014, and February 10, 2022.

SAN FRANCISCO HEALTH SERVICE SYSTEM

Affordable, Quality Benefits & Well-Being

213: LEGAL SETTLEMENT POLICY

Policy Objectives

SFHSS manages self-funded and flex-funded plans and may participate [as-in](#) legal claims to resolve disputes with providers. The resolution of the dispute may involve payments to SFHSS. This policy describes the acceptance and use of these settlements.

Settlement Policy

- 1) The settlement funds will be accepted and deposited in the medical trust fund for the health plan that most closely matches the claim.
- 2) The funds will be used in the underwriting rate setting process to set applicable health plan future rates, employer contributions and member contributions.
- 3) The underwriting rate setting process will consider the stability of the rates in determining the number of years for which rates will be adjusted.

Review

- 4) The Board shall review this policy at least every three years.

Policy History

- 5) The Board adopted this policy on January 12, 2023.